JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE

A Century of Leadership in Mathematics and Its Teaching

Impactful Moments in Mathematics Teaching

Published Semiannually by the Program in Mathematics Education TEACHERS COLLEGE | COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

AIMS AND SCOPE

The *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College (JMETC)* is a recreation of an earlier publication by the Program in Mathematics Education at Teachers College, Columbia University. As a peer-reviewed, semiannual journal, it is intended to provide dissemination opportunities for writers of practice-based or research contributions to the general field of mathematics education. Although many of the past issues of *JMETC* focused on a theme, the journal accepts articles related to any current topic in mathematics education, from which pertinent themes for future issues may be developed.

JMETC readers are educators from pre-kindergarten through twelfth-grade teachers, principals, superintendents, professors of education, and other leaders in education. Articles appearing in the *JMETC* include research reports, commentaries on practice, historical analyses, and responses to issues and recommendations of professional interest.

COPYRIGHTS AND PERMISSIONS

Copyright for articles published in *JMETC* is retained by the authors under a Creative Commons (CC BY) license. Authors retain permission to use their article in any form or format in connection with their teaching, conference presentations, lectures, scholarly works, and for all other academic and professional activities. Any future work of the authors based substantially on the article published in *JMETC* shall include appropriate citation to the *JMETC* publication.

JOURNAL SUBSCRIPTION

The journal is converting primarily to electronic publication. All *JMETC* issues including all future and archived issues—will be accessible and available for free electronically online at: <u>jmetc.columbia.edu</u>. To receive an email notification when new issues are published, please register on the journal website.

LIBRARY OF CONGRESS CATALOGING-IN-PUBLICATION DATA

Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College p. cm. Includes bibliographical references. ISSN 2156-1397 EISSN 2156-1400 1. Mathematics—Study and Teaching—United States—Periodicals QA11.A1 J963

AVAILABLE ONLINE

jmetc.columbia.edu

GUEST EDITORS

Mr. Jimmy Giff Ms. Emma LaPlace

EDITORIAL BOARD

Dr. Nick Wasserman (Chair) Dr. Philip Smith Dr. Irina Lyublinskaya Dr. Nicole Fletcher

CORRESPONDING EDITOR Ms. Juliana Fullon

DESIGN/PRODUCTION Exarte Design, Inc.

JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE

A Century of Leadership in Mathematics and Its Teaching

Impactful Moments in Mathematics Teaching

© 2024.

This is an open access journal distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits the user to copy, distribute, and transmit the work, provided that the original authors and source are credited.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE

✔ Jimmy Giff, Teachers College Columbia University Emma LaPlace, Teachers College Columbia University

ARTICLES

1 Effect of Mathematical Games on Senior Secondary School Students' Achievement in Mathematics According to Gender

Olajumoke Olayemi Salami, University of Johannesburg Erica Dorethea Spangenberg, University of Johannesburg

13 Considering Opportunities for Mathematical Magic: Design Principles for a Mathematician-Early Career Teacher Mentoring Model

Miriam Gates, Emmanuel College Lillie Albert, Boston College

23 Three Ghanaian Preservice teachers' knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy: Implications for teaching and learning of mathematics

Justice Enu, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology Zanele A. Ngcobo, University of KwaZulu-Natal

NOTES FROM THE FIELD

33 Manipulatives in a Mathematics Classroom: The Case of Frankards

> Frankie A. Fran, Ateneo de Manila University, Romblon State University Catherine P. Vistro-Yu, Ateneo de Manila University

37 A Problem-based Curriculum to Develop the Multiplication Principle for Counting

Lioubov Pogorelova, New York University Stephanie Sheehan-Braine, New York, NY Anthony John, New York, NY Nicholas H. Wasserman, Columbia University

PREFACE

In an ideal learning environment, students, teachers, and teacher educators provide mutual support to achieve the common goal of student understanding. The Spring 2024 edition of the *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College* presents three research papers that highlight both how teachers can best support their students and each other, through impactful moments in mathematics teaching. The two short reports explore the theme of impactful teaching moments through the lens of discrete mathematics, one using manipulatives in teaching probability and the other through a problem-based curriculum.

Salami investigates the impact of mathematical game play on student achievement, particularly as a way for teachers to bolster achievement for female students. Through the use of statistical analysis, this research examines the effectiveness of mathematical games for secondary school students in Nigeria, and the gender implications of the results.

Gates and Albert also explore impactful teaching moments, defining them as "mathematical magic." Through qualitative research methods, they illuminate not only the importance of teachers supporting students in these mathematical moments, but also the importance of educators supporting other educators in creating such moments through a mentoring model that pairs early career teachers with faculty mathematicians.

Enu and Ngcobo analyze pre-service mathematics teachers' knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy. Using interviews, the researchers highlight the challenges that pre-service mathematics teachers may face in understanding content knowledge and discuss the recommendations for teacher educators to help with these misconceptions.

> Jimmy Giff Emma LaPlace *Guest Editors*

JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE | SPRING 2024 | VOLUME 15, ISSUE 1

© 2024 Olajumoke Olayemi Salami, Erica Dorethea Spangenberg. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits the user to copy, distribute, and transmit the work provided that the original authors and source are credited.

Effect of Mathematical Games on Senior Secondary School Students' Achievement in Mathematics According to Gender

Olajumoke Olayemi Salami University of Johannesburg Erica Dorethea Spangenberg University of Johannesburg

ABSTRACT Playing mathematical games helps many senior secondary school students especially girls—acquire basic mathematical skills, but it can be difficult. Thus, this study examined how gender-related mathematical gameplay affects secondary school students' performance. The design of the study was quasi-experimental. Purposively, a sample of fifty senior secondary school students from the Federal Capital Territory (FCT) of Nigeria's Abuja Council Area was chosen. The researcher randomly allocated intact classes to the experimental and control groups using a coin toss. The students' achievement level was determined by an algebraic achievement test administered before and after the treatment. T-tests, means, and standard deviation were used to analyze the data. According to the study, female students had a higher mean score than male students when playing mathematics games. The findings imply that mathematical games enhance mathematics teaching and learning and should therefore be used by teachers to introduce concepts in mathematics to students of all levels, irrespective of their gender.

KEYWORDS Games, Students, Achievement, Mathematics, Gender

Introduction

Mathematics is an essential component of educational curricula in most countries. It provides the foundation for logical reasoning, problem solving, and technological innovation. Mathematics is important in many fields, including physics, engineering, economics, and computer science, since it enhances cognitive abilities. Also, Nigeria advocates mathematics as a subject of choice in the secondary school system to prepare students for postsecondary education and to create a workforce for job growth and national development.

However, all parties involved in education, especially mathematics teachers, parents, and the government, are currently very concerned about students' generally low academic achievement in mathematics at this level (Hursen & Bas, 2019). In Nigeria, there is a persistent reporting of students' low mathematics achievement on internal and external examinations. For example, according to the 2019 West African Examination Council (WAEC) report, more than 66% of Nigerian students still need to pass the Senior Secondary School Certificate Examination (SSCE) in mathematics. Additionally, the percentage of SSCE passes with credit and above was 39.5%, 37.5%, 34.2%, and 37.6% in the years 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023, respectively (WAEC Examiners' Reports, 2020-2023).

Although there are many applications of mathematical concepts in different professions and facets of life, students still perceive mathematics as a challenging subject to learn and a difficult course to pass. The fact that mathematics is usually considered difficult is one of the reasons why students are reluctant to study it in depth (Nicol, 2017). Many students find mathematics complex and scary due to its abstract nature. Students, particularly female students, are inclined to choose not to study mathematics as soon as possible. In addition, many students have negative attitudes toward mathematics, which may significantly impact career choices and contributions to wider society (Ayebale et al., 2020). A strategy to change students' beliefs about mathematics could be mathematical games.

Ogunkola and Knight (2019) opined that mathematical games used in the classroom might positively influence students' academic achievement in science and mathematics. Thus, studies on the impact of games on students' achievement in science have drawn the attention of numerous researchers (Ayebale et al., 2020; Moon & Ke, 2020; Rigelman & Lewis, 2023).

In Nigeria, mathematics games enhance learning by creating an engaging environment and promoting active participation and problem-solving skills (Aduwa, 2021). Research shows that game-based learning positively influences mathematical achievement by providing immediate feedback, encouraging perseverance, and fostering a positive attitude toward mathematics (Akanmu & Adeniyi, 2021). Mathematical games are practical activities that bring about fun, excitement, and challenges between two or more contestants and simultaneously enhance mathematics learning (Khateeb, 2019). Games are mathematical if their strategies, rules, and results are well-defined by mathematical parameters (Asare et al., 2019).

These games often feature straightforward match procedures and rules. Mathematical games like Whot and Ludo show a strong interest in recreational mathematics (Moon & Ke, 2020). In most cases, playing or watching a game is more beneficial than learning arithmetic theory when it comes to understanding the fundamental mathematics of games. Mathematical games aid students in grasping fundamental concepts in mathematics to enhance their arithmetic skills in an engaging way (Rigelman & Lewis, 2023).

Gök (2020) stated that mathematics is entirely game, and games are mostly mathematics. Games share many of the same interactions found in the fundamental structure of mathematics, such as ratiocination, inference-making, and creative thought. In this context, it is convenient to incorporate games into teaching mathematics (Gök, 2020). Incorporating games into the mathematics curriculum is one technique to assist students in learning mathematics while still encouraging fun. The exciting world of games has a positive impact on students' attitudes towards mathematics, enthusiasm to learn, and participation in mathematics lessons. This approach makes learning settings more engaging for students (Moon & Ke, 2020).

Mathematical games can help maintain and sustain student interest, thus leading to good academic results (National Mathematical Centre, 2023). Furthermore, Aduwa (2021) claimed that games are primarily meant for fun and can foster competition and excitement. Games encourage winners to hold on to their lead, and losers to work toward overcoming their loss. According to the National Mathematical Centre (2023), one of the functions of mathematical games is to foster a positive attitude toward mathematics. Positive attitudes can develop because of games' informality and excitement. Exciting activities tend to be more popular with students. Numerous international studies have documented the benefits of using mathematical games in teaching and learning the subject. For example, in Washington D.C., Noah (2019) discovered that mathematical games improve students' comprehension and achievement in the subject. Also, in Pakistan, Shah et al. (2023) found that providing students with opportunities to play mathematical games and receive special instruction helped them reach higher achievement levels in the subject.

Also, the variable of gender was considered in this study. Research on gender and mathematics achievement has yielded various outcomes over time (Bajwa & Perry, 2021). However, current research challenges this assumption, emphasizing the role of social and cultural factors in affecting academic achievement. While some early studies revealed fundamental gender disparities, more recent analyses emphasize the influence of stereotypes and societal expectations in shaping students' self-perception and academic achievement (Maadi, 2022). The natural and cultural phenomenon known as "gender" identifies the different personality traits of men and women, and categorizes in all facets of life (Bajwa & Perry, 2021; Maadi, Mahadi & Alajimi, 2022).

Research on how a student's gender affects their academic achievement has not yielded any clear findings (Korkmazet al., 2023). Therefore, mathematics teachers should constantly incorporate encouragement and reinforcement to pique students' interest in mathematics, particularly female students. This study attempted to determine the effects of mathematical games on the achievement of mathematics in senior secondary school students, particularly in relation to gender in Abuja, Nigeria. The researchers considered the positive impact of mathematical games on mathematics achievement and the fact that many female students do not perform well in mathematics. Thus, this study investigated the impact of mathematical games on the mathematical achievement of senior secondary school students based on gender.

The Impact of Mathematical Games on Students' Mathematical Achievement

Deng et al. (2020) carried out a case study in Shanghai, China, focusing on using digital games for instruction in high school students' mathematics classes. The study's findings demonstrated that students' performance and engagement in mathematics were enhanced when they played digital games once a day for six days. Also, Go et al. (2022) examined how well computer games with mathematical themes support college students' basic mathematical skills. Researchers at a state university in the Philippines carried out a case study that examined undergraduate programs in information technology, mathematics education, and industrial engineering. According to the survey, playing digital games has been shown to help students' basic mathematical abilities. In the study of Sam-Kayode and Salman (2022), it was found that mathematical games help students perform better in mathematics classes and help to develop students' skills.

The study by Khateeb (2019) investigated the impact of mobile gaming on mathematical achievement in Zarqa, Jordan. Their sample consisted of sixty-six fourth graders divided into the experimental group (n = 34) and the control group (n = 32). The experimental group used educational mobile games, while the control group received instruction via the conventional method. The study found that using mobile games to provide students with instructional support in mathematics is an effective strategy.

Prior gender-specific research on how mathematical games affect students' achievement in mathematics in senior secondary school (Sam-Kayode & Salman, 2022) produced mixed results. Some suggest that games encourage participation and problem-solving skills, although methodological limitations and cultural differences remain unsolved. A more rigorous study is needed. This study investigates how mathematical games impact senior secondary school students' academic achievement, with a focus on gender inequalities. It seeks to fill a study gap on the efficacy of games in improving mathematics learning results, potentially leading to more inclusive and effective teaching.

Empirical Research on the Influence of Gender on Students' Mathematical Achievement

Prior studies on the impact of mathematical games on students' achievement in mathematics in senior secondary schools, taking gender into account, have revealed a mixed picture. While some studies suggest that mathematical games improve general academic achievement, gender-specific outcomes differ. Several studies have found that interactive and engaging mathematical games benefit both male and female students by encouraging a deeper knowledge of mathematical ideas (Oliweh & Oyem, 2022). However, a subgroup of studies reveals that the degree of impact varies by gender, with some games being more effective for one gender than the other (Buser & Yuan, 2019). Overall, the convergence of previous studies highlights the necessity of taking gender dynamics into account when applying mathematical games in educational contexts, enabling a nuanced and inclusive approach to improving learning results.

Due to the contradictory nature of research findings on gender and mathematics, teachers continue to disagree notably about the impact of gender on students' achievement in this subject (Liang et al., 2020; Liu & Hwang, 2020; Akanmu & Adeniyi, 2021; Alsadoon et al., 2022). Singh et al. (2021) compared the average achievement ratings of male and female students who learned numbers using mobile games. The findings demonstrated that male students outperformed female students when taught with mobile gaming.

Ellison and Swanson (2023) used competition data to investigate the dynamics of the gender gap in high school mathematics achievement. By ninth grade, there is a noticeable gender difference, and it gets bigger with time. The gender gap is getting more comprehensive as a result of gender-related variations in dropout rates, as well as in the mean and variance of year-to-year improvement. According to the study, only some girls achieve significant enough gains to raise their rankings.

Buser and Yuan (2019) used regression discontinuity analysis to study the Dutch Mathematics Olympiad participants on the verge of moving on to the next round. For boys, they find a small and insignificant dropout effect of one percentage point, and for girls, a large and marginally significant dropout effect of eleven percentage points. We can use narrower windows and obtain more accurate estimates due to our significantly larger sample. The study discovered that girls are comparatively likelier to respond by quitting, but we also show that boys are greatly affected. The difference in effect between girls and boys in the competition is less significant than their point estimates for the Netherlands.

Oliweh and Oyem (2022) focused on the gender disparities in students' mathematics achievement in a selected secondary school in Delta State, Nigeria. The method of stratified random sampling was applied. There were eight hundred secondary school students in the study population. To direct the investigation, a single research question and hypothesis were developed. Data were gathered and examined according to the study's objectives using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). The hypotheses were tested at the significance level of 0.05. The mean variance of the research hypothesis was examined using the t-test analysis. The model's t-test p-value served as the basis for the decision. Levene's test for equality of variance supports the homogeneity of the variance. The hypothesis's findings demonstrate no difference between male and female students' math achievement.

Anokye-Poku and Ampadu (2020) conducted a study to investigate how girls and boys in Ghanaian junior high schools felt about mathematics and their success in the subject. A sample of 360 students was used in a descriptive survey design. Two tools were used to evaluate the student's performance: test results and a semi-structured questionnaire. The findings showed a statistically significant achievement gap, with male students outperforming female students in mathematics.

Theoretical Framework for the Study

Two theories - cognitive development and behavioral learning - provided the foundation for this study, which employed mathematical games. On the one hand, playing mathematical games while learning mathematics leads to cognitive development. Specifically, the study employed the cognitive development theory to examine how teachers can use mathematical games to assist learners in conceptualizing mathematics (Slavin et al., 2021). According to this developmental theory, student interaction on relevant tasks improves their grasp of essential ideas (Ekmekci & Serrano, 2022). Students gain a deeper understanding of the material they are studying when they interact with other students and have to explain and discuss each other's points of view (Slavin et al., 2021). According to the cognitive development theory, explaining the subject to someone else is one of the best ways to learn it. Playing mathematical games encourages more elaborate thinking and frequent explanations, improving understanding depth, reasoning quality, and long-term retention accuracy (Dimosthenous et al., 2021; Liang et al., 2020; Deng et al., 2020).

On the other hand, according to the theory of behavioral learning, students are more likely to commit to teamwork if teachers give them rewards for their participation (Morgan et al., 2019). Therefore, rewards for individuals and teams should be clear when employing mathematical contests. Thus, from both of these theoretical perspectives, using mathematical games should result in better student learning.

As a result, this study demonstrated the two main theoretical stances on using mathematical games in education: the cognitive development theory, which emphasizes the effects on students, and the behavioral learning theory, which emphasizes the students' incentives to complete academic work, such as reward and goal structures (Slavin et al., 2021). These theories provide teachers with the framework to design learning environments catering to a classroom's diverse learning styles, interests, and abilities. Adopting the theories mentioned earlier suggests that teachers should break away from traditional methods of instruction and instead implement innovative strategies like audio, video, and field trips to give students more ways to absorb knowledge (Chiang et al., 2019). With the help of these techniques, students can succeed and learn at their own pace and style (Esperanza et al., 2023).

Purpose of the Study

The study aimed to examine how mathematical games affected senior secondary school students' gender-related academic performance in mathematics. The precise goals were to:

- Determine the impact of mathematical game use on students' mathematical achievement.
- Ascertain how gender affects students' mathematical achievement when utilizing mathematical games for teaching and learning.

Research Hypotheses

The 0.05 level of significance formulates and tests the following null hypotheses:

- There is no significant difference in the mathematical achievement of students who were taught through mathematical games compared to their counterparts who were not.
- The effect of gender on students' mathematical achievement when they were taught with mathematical games is not statistically significant.

Significance of the Study

The following groups will benefit from the results and recommendations of this study:

 Teachers will be provided with mathematical games to introduce new concepts and to engage students in learning mathematics.

- The government or the curriculum developers will organize regular training workshops and seminars for mathematics teachers so that their knowledge of mathematical game use in the classrooms can improve.
- Scholars contribute vital evidence and guide future educational practices by providing real evidence to existing knowledge. The report also identifies gaps in current knowledge and suggests directions for future research. This study contributes to the consolidation of existing knowledge, identifies areas requiring additional inquiry, and provides a thorough review for educators, researchers, and policymakers.
- It is vital to highlight that the outcomes of this study will also be used as a reference for other researchers who may want to perform similar studies in other parts of Nigeria.

Limitations

The following limitations are pertinent to this study:

- The number of fourth graders randomly chosen from senior secondary school students in the Abuja Council Area of the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja, constitutes the study's sample size.
- The impact of mathematical games on senior secondary school students' academic advancement in mathematics is impacted by contextual limitations in Abuja, Nigeria, particularly in terms of gender. Sociocultural factors, educational infrastructure, and gender norms may all have an impact on the effectiveness of these activities, making it challenging to attain equitable results for male and female students.
- Tool and content validity are limited, due to the reliability of the instruments used in this study.

Methodology

Research Design

This study used a quasi-experimental design. The two groups—one experimental group and one control group—were instructed in using mathematical games. While the control group received instruction using the standard methodology, the experimental group was exposed to treatments utilizing an instructional strategy based on mathematical games.

Pre-testing on the experimental and control groups determined the student's level of achievement, while the post-test after the treatment measured the change in learning outcomes in the groups. In this study, the mathematical game instructional strategy was the independent variable, the student's achievement represented the dependent variable, and gender (male and female) was the moderator variable. Using a pre- and posttest, the researcher was interested in manipulating the independent variable (game) to observe its effect on the dependent variable (achievement in mathematics).

Sample

The sample comprised 50 senior secondary school students in the fourth grade in the Abuja Council Area of Federal Capital Territory, Abuja, selected purposively from a population of 1,086 students. The fourth grade is the foundation class for senior secondary school classes. There were 30 males and 20 females in the sample. Three schools were selected for the investigation using simple random sampling. The schools selected for this study had (1) at least one teacher with a BSc (Ed.) Mathematics qualification, (2) teachers that taught mathematics, and (3) a considerable distance between the other schools. A coin toss was used in each selected school to assign intact classes to experimental and control groups randomly. The experimental group had 16 male and 10 female students, while the control group had 14 male and 10 female students.

Data Collection

Before the experiment, two research assistants received training on conducting the experiments, which took place in one of the schools. The researcher explained the rules of the algebraic substitution game to the two research assistants and provided an outline of the algebraic expressions to be taught to learners. The research assistants taught the students about algebraic expressions over three weeks before the commencement of the experiment.

The study consisted of two stages: The preliminary stage and the implementation stage. During the preliminary stage, the experimental and the control groups were pre-tested using the Algebraic Achievement Test (AAT) before the teaching. The researcher created the 20 items that made up the AAT. Some examples of algebraic expressions are 3x+2y-5 or $2a^2-4ab+b^2$.

The study explores the impact of mathematical games on senior secondary school students' academic achievement, highlighting the complex interaction with gender dynamics. It suggests that gender-related issues, cultural barriers, and contextual factors, such as educational infrastructure and community attitudes, may influence outcomes. The purpose of the test was to ascertain the students' entry-level behavior.

During the implementation phase, the topic of algebraic expressions, scheduled for two weeks in the mathematics scheme of work and four periods per week on the school timetable, was taught to the experimental and control groups. The researcher provided an example of algebraic expressions, along with guided practice. Variable and verbal expressions were as follows:

- (a) Examples of algebraic expressions: (i) x increased by 6 is x + 6; (ii) the quotient of 18 and n is 18/n
- (b) Examples of verbal expressions: (i) *x*/2 is half of *x*;(ii) 5*n* is five times a number, etc.

The students were taught algebraic expressions in a 40-minute lesson using eight periods throughout the two weeks. Following every lesson, students in the experimental groups solved an algebraic expression exercise. Students solved questions on algebraic expressions from the New General Mathematics book for senior secondary school (Murray et al., 2008).

Thereafter, the students were screened with the Algebraic Achievement Test (AAT), and those who scored a threshold of 40 or lower were assigned to one of four groups, three experimental and one control. Learners in the three experimental groups played the mathematical game.

The study aimed to examine the impact of a modified mathematics game on students' mathematics achievement in a varied classroom context. A modified version of "Snakes and Ladders" is used to improve mathematical learning by adding mathematical questions to each ladder or snake position on the board.

One group used a collaborative learning model, which promoted teamwork and cooperative problem solving. Students in this group explored the mathematical issues collectively, creating a supportive environment that promoted collective comprehension. Another group engaged in competitive gameplay, with individuals competing to answer challenges and to move up the board. This strategy attempted to create a sense of drive and urgency by imitating real-world problem-solving settings.

A third group utilized self-paced learning techniques, focusing on personalized learning and incorporating interactive technology to enhance understanding of mathematical concepts. The teacher supervised the groups to ensure that they followed the guidelines for solving algebraic expressions as described by Alsadoon et al. (2022), which are as follows:

- Each group of students had to work as a team and reach a decision by consensus.
- Every member of the group impacted the achievement of the others.

- Each assignment received a grade, and each group member received their group grade as their grade.
- Students could seek help from each other towards attaining a common goal.

For the post-test, the items in the pre-test (AAT) were re-arranged. The post-test was administered to all groups at the end of the mathematics game to assess what the students have learned. The tests were marked and graded.

Data Analysis

Descriptive and inferential statistics were employed to analyze the gathered data. The average and standard deviation display the pre-test and post-test results. Secondly, t-test statistics were used at a significance level of 0.05 to test the null hypotheses.

Quality measures

Three experts critically appraised the face and content validity of the instrument (AAT). The outcome of the appraisal of the items based on the experts' judgment gave a 0.85 index of logical validity.

The validated instrument (AAT) was trial tested to determine the reliability of the instruments, using 24 students who were part of the study's target population, but did not form part of the study. Also, the split-half reliability method establishes the instrument's internal consistency with a reliability coefficient of 0.84.

The instrument was considered adequate using psychometric item analysis, with an average of 0.56 as the difficulty index, 0.63 for the discrimination average index, and -0.13 as the distracter average index for the items.

The researchers implemented the following protocols to control for unrelated variables that could introduce bias into the study. The researcher put together a standardized training program for the teachers who worked as research assistants. The same research assistants managed the experimental and control groups. The test instruments were under the researcher's care, and research assistants helped only when asked by the teachers and when needed. The researcher assumed a supervisory role in averting the teachers' departures from the prescribed content of the lesson plans. The researcher obtained the pre-test and post-test that the instructors and students gave.

Ethical considerations

Permission was granted by the ethical committee of the federal university, Oye Ekiti, to conduct this study. The researcher sought permission from the principals of the two selected schools. Consent forms were completed by students in these schools agreeing to participate in the study after discussing the students' consent, objectives, and activities. The researcher ensured that all works cited were referenced and paraphrased. After considering all ethical issues, a plagiarism check was conducted on the study to ensure high originality. The researcher also sought the support of two mathematics teachers in the selected secondary schools who served as the research assistants while administering the treatments to the experimental groups in their respective schools.

Results

Descriptive statistics were first used to show the participants' biographical information, assess the remaining items' internal consistency, and determine the discriminant validity of the AAT with respect to mathematics. Second, the inferential statistics analysis focused on the test statistics of the variables, which included student achievement and gender. The results are shown based

on the variations in the cross-variable averages when there were significant differences. It was determined through descriptive statistics that there were more male participants (60.0%; 30 out of 50) than female participants (40.0%; 20 out of 50).

Research Question 1

What influence does teaching through mathematical games have on students' mathematics achievement?

Table 1 presents the experimental and control groups' mean gain scores for mathematical achievement. The pre-test mean scores for the experimental group (M = 41.47, SD = 15.03) and the control group (M = 41.38, SD = 18.13) differ slightly. The post-test mean scores, on the other hand, differed more between these groups (M = 61.12, SD = 15.03 and M = 45.38, SD = 18.13, respectively). The control group's mean gain was 4.00, while the experimental group's was 19.65. This result indicates that the experimental group performed better than the control group in terms of gain score.

Research Question 2

How does teaching through mathematical games influence students' achievement in mathematics pertaining to gender?

Table 2 presents the descriptive statistics on the influence of gender on students' achievement when taught with mathematical games. The female students had higher mean achievement scores (M = 45.34, SD = 21.72) than the male students' (M = 40.02, SD = 14.43) for the pre-test before they were taught through mathematical games. However, the mean score between these two groups for the post-test (M = 76.35, SD = 21.72 and M =56.42, SD = 14.43, respectively) increased notably after they were taught through mathematical games. Thus, female students outperformed male students.

To establish whether the differences were significant, correlational statistics were employed using a t-test to measure the formulated null hypotheses at $p \le 0.05$. A t-test is employed to determine if there's a significant difference between the means of two groups, indicating whether observed variations are statistically meaningful or just due to chance.

Table 1

The Experimental and Control Groups' Mean Gain Scores for Mathematical Achievement

Group	N	Pre-test Mean X ₁	Post-test Mean X ₂	Mean Gain Score X_2 - X_1	SD
Experimental	26	41.47	61.12	19.65	15.03
Control	24	41.38	45.38	4.00	18.13
Sources: Authors' computation from SPSS					

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics on the Influence of Gender on Students' Achievement when Taught with Mathematical Games

Group	Ν	Pre-test Mean X_1	Post-test Mean X_2	SD
Male	30	40.02	56.42	14.43
Female	20	45.34 76.35 21.72		
Sources: Authors' computation from SPSS				

Hypotheses 1

There is no significant difference in the mathematical achievement of students taught using mathematical games compared to their counterparts who were not.

Table 3 presents the independent t-test of the experimental and control groups. The difference between the experimental and control groups on the mathematical achievement of students who were taught through mathematical games. It is shown that the mathematical games of the experimental group had a significant influence on students' mathematics achievement among senior secondary school students [t (48) = 5.28, p=0.0019; p < .05], The results of the independent sample t-test are displayed in Table 3; the t-test value is 5.28, the degree of freedom is 48, and the p-value is

0.0019. The experimental group's mean is statistically higher than the control group's because the p-value is less than the 0.05 significance level. It is therefore asserted that there was a noteworthy distinction in the academic performance of senior school students who were taught mathematics through mathematical games and their counterparts in the control group. This demonstrated that the experimental group's usage of mathematical games significantly influenced their academic performance.

Hypotheses 2

The effect of gender on students' mathematical achievement when they were taught with mathematical games is not statistically significant.

Based on Table 4, the result showed that gender had a significant influence on mathematical games among senior secondary school students [t (48) = 3.57 p=0.01; p > 0.05]. Since the p-value is lower than the threshold of 0.05 significant coefficient, female students (mean = 31.01) made progress using mathematical games, compared to male students (mean = 16.40) on mathematics achievement. Therefore, it implies that female students perform better than male students after being exposed to mathematical games.

The mean gain scores of the students who participated in the math achievement tests are displayed in Table 4 according to their gender. When teaching mathematics through mathematical games, the mean gain score for female students was (x=31.01), whereas the mean gain score for male students was (x=16.07). Female students'

Table 3

The independent t-test of the Experimental and Control Groups

Group	Mean	Ν	Df	т	Р
Experimental	19.65	26	10	5 00	0.0010
Control	4.00	24	40	0.20	0.0019
Sources: Authors' computation from SPSS					

Table 4

The independent t-test of the Experimental and Control Groups

Group	N	Mean	Df	т	Р
Male	30	16.40	19	3 57	0.01
Female	20	31.01	40	0.07	0.01
Note: The correlation, denoted by p, is significant at the 0.05 probability level					

mean gain scores were 14.94 higher when exposed to mathematical games than male students.

At the 0.05 level, both statistical tests assumed a significant correlation: the differences between the male and female variables were statistically significant. Consequently, female students made notable progress when taught mathematics using mathematical games.

Discussion and Conclusion

According to the study, teaching through mathematical games in senior secondary schools significantly increased students' mathematics achievement (M =61.12, *SD* = 15.03 and *M* = 45.38, *SD* = 18.13). The experimental group's mean was (x= 19.65), while the control group's mean was (x= 4.0). The results show that the experimental group of students who played a mathematical game while learning the subject had higher mean scores than the control group of students who did not. Akanmu and Adeniyi (2021) investigated the impact of mathematical games on students' achievement in mathematics and discovered that it helps students perform better in the subject. As a result, compared to students taught without games, students taught with mathematical games produced noticeably better results in mathematics. Students could have achieved better when taught with mathematical games, as mathematical games illustrate theoretical and abstract concepts with concrete examples, which facilitate effective mathematics teaching and learning.

It is also evident from the study that female students outperformed male students, with the female students' mean value (x=31.01) being higher than the male mean value (x=16.40). The games were effective for male students in raising achievement and cultivating a positive attitude toward mathematics, despite their initial lack of enthusiasm. This was confirmed when they were encouraged to play. Mathematical games are valuable learning opportunities for both students and teachers, according to the teachers who oversaw their supervision. This finding corresponds with the findings of Yeh et al. (2019) and Ayebale, Habaasa, and Tweheyo (2020), who affirmed that female students exposed to mathematical games had a mean gain score higher than their male counterparts. Thus, gender significantly influenced students' achievement when mathematics was taught using mathematical games.

Given the identified factors, mathematics teachers should expose both genders to constructivist teaching methods, such as computer game instructional strategies (Noah, 2019), as mathematical games positively influence mathematics achievement. Students should learn by doing, taking an active role in building their understanding. Teachers should utilize mathematical games to help male and female students reach their maximum potential. It is, however, essential to note that female students benefit more from being exposed to mathematical games. Thus, teachers should expose female students to mathematical games that attract their interests.

As lack of interest in mathematics is a notable reason for student failure in the subject, mathematical games for teaching mathematics classes may hold a more significant promise of regaining students' achievement in mathematics, especially for female students.

This study examined how mathematical games affected the mathematical achievement of senior secondary school students in terms of gender in Abuja, Nigeria. According to the results, teaching through mathematical games significantly improved students' achievement in mathematics. Also, female students achieved higher scores than male students when taught through mathematical games.

The findings imply that teaching through mathematical games can enhance mathematics achievement and that mathematical games should, therefore, be used by teachers to introduce mathematics concepts to students at different levels. Mathematical games can create a friendly atmosphere for student-centered teaching and learning to engage students in learning mathematics concepts. By organizing regular training workshops and seminars for mathematics teachers, teachers' knowledge of mathematical games can improve. School administrators should provide teachers with simple local games like Whot, Ludo games, and playing cards to facilitate the teaching and learning of specific topics in mathematics. However, using mathematical games in teaching is inadequate in accounting for continuous achievement disparity between males and females in mathematics across senior secondary schools in Abuja. Other factors such as the students' attitudes, self-efficacy, and ability levels should also be considered.

The study was limited to two senior secondary schools in an urban area in Nigeria. The authors suggest similar research in other contexts. Studies comparing urban and rural senior secondary school students' mathematics achievement when taught through mathematical games are also recommended. The authors further suggest using online mathematical games in longitudinal studies to follow students' progression in learning mathematics.

Parents may use the outcome of this study to provide educational games to their children at home to engage them in mathematics. Such games can provide opportunities for monitoring, advising, and encouraging their children toward positive achievement in mathematics.

Overall, including mathematical games into experimental investigations, together with a variety of gameplay methodologies, proved to be a novel and successful method for improving students' mathematics efficacy and achievement. Curriculum planners may find teaching with mathematical games beneficial when designing programs for mathematics teachers. The government may also appreciate and use the study's findings to improve and implement the general objectives of mathematics education as drawn up by the Federal Republic of Nigeria (FRN).

Teaching through mathematics games may make students more focused and willing to dedicate considerable time to engage in mathematics in the classroom. Teaching mathematics to senior secondary school students through games improves their academic achievement. Hence, teachers need to develop themselves by using mathematical games to enhance students' academic achievement in mathematics.

References

- Aduwa, John. 2021. "Mathematics Teaching and Learning Processes in Secondary Schools in Nigeria: Challenges and Prospects." | Www.Ijaar. Org Journal International Journal of Research in Education and Sustainable Development | 1(6): 2782– 7666. https://doi.org/10.46654/IJRESD.
- Akanmu, Morenikeji Alex, and Comfort Olawumi Adeniyi. 2021. "Effects Of Mathematical Games on Senior Secondary Students' Academic Performance in Mathematics in Ejigbo, Osun State, Nigeria." ATTARBAWIY: Malaysian Online Journal of Education 5(1): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.53840/ attarbawiy.v5i1.1.
- Alsadoon, Elham, Amirah Alkhawajah, and Ashwag Bin Suhaim. 2022. "Effects of a Gamified Learning Environment on Students' Achievement, Motivations, and Satisfaction." *Heliyon* 8 (8). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e10249.
- Anokye-Poku, D and Ampadu, E. 2020. Gender differences in attitudes and achievement in mathematics among Ghanaian JHS Students., *International Journal of Education*, 12(3), 84-95.
- Asanre, Akorede A, Taiwo O Abiodun, and Toyin A Odupe. 2019. "Content Coverage and Students Attitude as Predictors of Senior Secondary School Academic Achievement in Mathematics." *Islamic University Multidisciplinary Journal IUMJ*. Vol. 6.
- Ayebale, Lillian, Gilbert Habaasa, and Samson Tweheyo. 2020. "Factors Affecting Students' Achievement in Mathematics in Secondary Schools in Developing Countries: A Rapid Systematic." In *Statistical Journal of the IAOS*, 36:S73–76. IOS Press B.V. https://doi.org/10.3233/sji-200713.
- Bajwa, Neet Priya, and Michelle Perry. 2021. "Features of a Pan Balance That May Support Students' Developing Understanding of Mathematical Equivalence." Mathematical Thinking and Learning 23(1): 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/109860 65.2020.1700587.
- Buser, T., and Yuan, H. 2019. "Do Women Give up Competing More Easily? Evidence from the Lab and the Dutch Math Olympiad." American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 11(3):225–252.

- Chiang, Tosti Hsu Cheng, Stephen J.H. Yang, and Chengjiu Yin. 2019. "Effect of Gender Differences on 3-on-3 Basketball Games Taught in a Mobile Flipped Classroom." *Interactive Learning Environments* 27(8): 1093–1105. https://doi.org/10.10 80/10494820.2018.1495652.
- Deng, Li, Shaoyang Wu, Yumeng Chen, and Zhengmei Peng. 2020. "Digital Game-Based Learning in a Shanghai Primary-School Mathematics Class: A Case Study." Journal of Computer Assisted Learning 36(5): 709–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12438.
- Dimosthenous, Andria, Leonidas Kyriakides,
 Anastasia Panayiotou, Daner Sun, Ying Zhan, Zhi
 Hong Wan, Yuqin Yang, et al. 2021. "Shortand Long-Term Effects of the Home Learning
 Environment and Teachers on Student
 Achievement in Mathematics: A Longitudinal
 Study." Research in Science and Technological
 Education 31(3): 54–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494
 820.2019.1674888.
- Ekmekci, Adem, and Danya Marie Serrano. 2022. "The Impact of Teacher Quality on Student Motivation, Achievement, and Persistence in Science and Mathematics." *Education Sciences* 12(10). https://doi. org/10.3390/educsci12100649.
- Ellison G and Swanson, A 2023 Dynamics of the Gender Gap in High Math Achievement. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 4(1), 1-33 http://jhr. uwpress.org.
- Esperanza, Peter Joseph, Celbert Himang, Miriam Bongo, Egberto Selerio, and Lanndon Ocampo. 2023. "The Utility of a Flipped Classroom in Secondary Mathematics Education." *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology* 54(3): 382–415. https://doi.org/10.1080/00 20739X.2021.1957166.
- Go, Marivel, Rodolfo A. Golbin, Severina Velos, Johnry Dayupay, Wym Dionaldo, Feliciana Cababat, Miriam Bongo, Christos Troussas, and Lanndon Ocampo. 2022. "Evaluating Digital Mathematical Games in Improving the Basic Mathematical Skills of University Students." International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1080/0020739X.2022.2089604.
- Gök, Mustafa. 2020. "Mathematical Mystery in a Cultural Game." World Journal of Education 10(6): 64. https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v10n6p64.

Hursen, Cigdem, and Cizem Bas. 2019. "Use of Gamification Applications in Science Education." International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning 14(1): 4–23. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet. v14i01.8894.

- Karamert, Önder, and Aslıhan Kuyumcu Vadar. 2021. "The Effect of Gamification on Young Mathematics Learners' Achievements and Attitudes." *Journal* of Educational Technology and Online Learning 4(2): 96–114. https://doi.org/10.31681/jetol.904704.
- Khateeb, Mohammad Ahmad Al. 2019. "Effect of Mobile Gaming on Mathematical Achievement among 4th Graders." *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning* 14(7): 4–7. https:// doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v14i07.10315.
- Korkmaz, Sevda, Ayla Cetin-Dindar, and Ferhunde Kucuksen Oner. 2023. "Impact of Educational Game Development on Students' Achievement and Attitudes toward Science." *Journal of Educational Research* 116(5): 268–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/0022 0671.2023.2265852.
- Liang, Yuan, Lijin Zhang, Yang Long, Qian Deng, and Yujuan Liu. 2020. "Promoting Effects of RtI-Based Mathematical Play Training on Number Sense Growth among Low-SES Preschool Children." *Early Education and Development* 31(3): 335–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2019.1664261.
- Liu, Chenchen, and Gwo Jen Hwang. 2020. "Roles and Research Trends of Touchscreen Mobile Devices in Early Childhood Education: Review of Journal Publications from 2010 to 2019 Based on the Technology-Enhanced Learning Model." *Interactive Learning Environments*. https://doi.org/10.1080/1049 4820.2020.1855210.

Maadi Mahadi Alajimi. 2022. "Pedagogy and Curriculum Skills at the Intermediate Stage in Kuwait." *The International Journal of Pedagogy and Curriculum* 29(1): 101–13. https://doi. org/10.18848/2327-7963/CGP/v29i01/101-118.

Moon, Jewoong, and Fengfeng Ke. 2020. "In-Game Actions to Promote Game-Based Math Learning Engagement." *Journal of Educational Computing Research* 58(4): 863–85. https://doi. org/10.1177/0735633119878611.

Morgan, Bobbette M., Criselda Garcia, and John Jauregui. 2019. "Teacher Candidate Immersion into Bilingual/ Dual Language Classrooms in Largest Urban District in Texas." Universal Journal of Educational Research 7(5): 1247–54. https://doi. org/10.13189/ujer.2019.070510. Murray Macrae, A. O.; Kalejaiye, Z. I.; Chima, G. U.; Gaba, M. O and Ademosu, A.O 2008. New General Mathematics New General Maths for Nigeria Series, Pearson Education, Limited, 2008 ISBN: 1405869992, 9781405869997

Nicol, Adelheid A.M. 2017. "Using Gaming to Make Statistics Fun." *College Teaching*. Taylor and Francis Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1080/87567555.2016.1222576.

Noah, Oyarinde Oluremi. 2019. "Effect of Computer Game-Based Instructional Strategy on Students' Learning Outcome in Mathematics." Journal of Education, Society and Behavioural Science, April 1–15. https://doi.org/10.9734/jesbs/2019/v29i430113.

Ogunkola, Babalola, and Carlos Knight. 2019. "Technical Drawing Course, Video Games, Gender, and Type of School on Spatial Ability." *Journal of Educational Research* 112(5): 575–89. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/00220671.2019.1592092.

Oliweh I.S and Oyem I.M 2021 Gender Differential Mathematics Achievement of Students in Selected Senior Secondary Schools in Delta State, Nigeria, *Abacus (Mathematics Education Series)* Vol. 46, No. 1,1-7

Rigelman, Nicole, and Chandra Lewis. 2023. "Leveraging Mathematics Teacher Leaders in Support of Student and Teacher Learning." *Investigations in Mathematics Learning* 15(1): 85–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/19477503.2022.2140989.

- Sam-Kayode, Christianah Olajumoke, and Medinat Folorunso Salman. 2022. "Effect of Ludo Game on Senior School Students' Performance in Probability." *The Journal of the Mathematical Association of Nigeria* 40(1): 51–62. https://www. researchgate.net/publication/358047742.
- Shah, Nazir Haider, Nadia Nazir, Mahek Arshad, Khatiba Akhter, Abdul Khaliq Shaheen, Sidra Younas, and Faheem Ghazanfar. 2023. "Effect of Students Attitude Towards Mathematics on Their Mathematical Achievement at Secondary School Level." International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (IJET) 18 (12): 178–92. https://doi. org/10.3991/ijet.v18i12.38765.
- Singh, Parmjit, Teoh Sian Hoon, Akmal Md Nasir, Adlan Md Ramly, Syazwani Md Rasid, and Chew Cheng Meng. 2021. "Card Game as a Pedagogical Tool for Numeracy Skills Development." *International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education* 10(2): 693–705. https://doi.org/10.11591/ ijere.v10i2.20722.

- Slavin, Robert E., Alan C.K. Cheung, and Tengteng Zhuang. 2021. "How Could Evidence-Based Reform Advance Education?" ECNU *Review of Education* 4(1): 7–24. https://doi. org/10.1177/2096531120976060.
- Yeh, Charles Y.C., Hercy N.H. Cheng, Zhi Hong Chen, Calvin C.Y. Liao, and Tak Wai Chan.
 2019. "Enhancing Achievement and Interest in Mathematics Learning through Math-Island." *Research and Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning* 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41039-019-0100-9.

Acknowledgment

The authors are very grateful to all the associated staff who contributed to this study.

Informed Consent

The authors have obtained informed consent from all participants.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE | SPRING 2024 | VOLUME 15, ISSUE 1

© 2024 Miriam Gates, Lillie Albert. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits the user to copy, distribute, and transmit the work provided that the original author and source are credited.

Considering Opportunities for Mathematical *Magic:* Design Principles for a Mathematician-Early Career Teacher Mentoring Model

Miriam Gates Emmanuel College Lillie Albert Boston College

ABSTRACT Mathematical *magic*, or experiences of beauty and creativity for K-12 mathematics students, can contribute to deepened content understanding. However, creating opportunities for mathematical *magic* in mathematics classrooms has been a challenge for classroom practitioners. To support development of these experiences in classrooms, we deployed a bi-directional support program between a college-level mathematician and an early-career secondary teacher. Based on data collected from this project, we have identified four principles that will promote mathematical *magic*. We conclude that mathematicians and early career teachers can work together to a) leverage understandings of the nature of mathematics, b) apply meta-mathematical reasoning, c) share knowledge of content and students across contexts, and d) recognize students' mathematical development to design learning experiences for mathematical *magic*.

KEYWORDS: Mentoring, early-career teachers, mathematics faculty

[W]hat's really challenging for me is one of the best things that I did for my own education was these number theory classes and these proof writing classes. I feel a lot of the *magic* of it is missing from my classes. You know, the power of looking through data and looking through numbers and coming up with some conjecture, then proving or disproving it. And that intense feeling, although it has been discovered before, in the moment, you feel like you are a genius. Or you are the only one that's ever discovered it. It's almost like a feeling of creation [...] It's how I imagine maybe artists feel sometimes, when they feel like they've made something through their own devices.

Ms. Jackson, a teacher participant

Experiences of mathematical *magic*, or the creativity and beauty in mathematics, as described by Ms. Jackson, have been associated with positive mathematical identities (Palmer, 2009), increased interest in mathematics (Brinkmann, 2009), and deepened mathematical understanding (Cellucci, 2015). These approaches align with how mathematicians describe their own disciplinary experiences: beautiful, personal processes of doing (Burton, 2007). However, this kind of *magic* is often missing from secondary classrooms, according to teachers (Karp, 2008). At the post-secondary level, some mathematicians describe teaching as procedural communication where students must identify the underlying beauty (Burton, 2007). Therefore, students at the K-16 level do not always experience mathematical magic, despite its importance to both teachers and mathematicians. Further, a majority of the research about college-faculty mathematicians in mathematics education has been in their own post-secondary contexts (e.g., Burton, 2001; Nardi, 2008; Sfard, 1998), rather than at the K-12 level, so how they might support beginning teachers is not widely understood. Here, we propose to examine how the dual expertise of a beginning teacher and a professional mathematician in a mentoring relationship might be leveraged to produce mathematical magic within secondary schools.

To better understand how such an interaction might look, we completed an exploratory study associated with Exemplary Mathematics Teachers for High Needs Schools (EMTHNS). As part of a larger project, teachers in their first four years of teaching were mentored by both college-faculty mathematicians and experienced secondary mathematics teachers. In this paper, we focus on the teacher-mathematician relationship and propose four principles that leverage the expertise of mathematician and teacher to create a vision for mathematics classroom practice that includes mathematical *magic*. In what follows, we will begin with the relevant literature and describe the complete program in which teachers and mathematicians participated. Based on data analysis, we propose design principles for similar mentoring programs. The concluding section presents implications for the field.

Situating the Challenge of Mathematical Magic

This project is situated in the literature about experiences of the aesthetic of disciplinary mathematics and mentoring of early career mathematics teachers. Here we explain how the concept of mathematical *magic* relates to the literature on aesthetics in K-12 classrooms. We will also describe some of what is known about faculty mathematicians in mathematics education research and mentoring early career mathematics teachers.

Considerations of aesthetics in mathematics classrooms

The concept of mathematical *magic*, the appreciation of the aesthetic of mathematics, is important for teachers because it allows them to see themselves in the discipline (Hobbs, 2012). For learners, aesthetic considerations have been shown to support the development of a positive mathematician identity (Palmer, 2009) and to stimulate interest in mathematics (Brinkmann, 2009). Mathematical aesthetic also can provide a route toward a deeper understanding of the discipline (Cellucci, 2015). Additionally, it is essential to mathematical creativity (Brinkmann & Sriraman, 2009) and the judgement of problem posing in mathematics (Crespo & Sinclair, 2008). For professional mathematicians, mathematics is a beautiful, personal process of doing or, in our words, *magic* (Burton, 2007).

At the post-secondary level, for some faculty, mathematics teaching is procedural communication where students leverage procedure to identify underlying beauty (Burton, 2007). Other research centers teacher candidates' development of content and pedagogical knowledge through problem solving and inquiry (Apkarian et al., 2023), developing mathematically-focused art (An et al., 2023), or conjecture-building activities (Meagher et al., 2020) that could lead to mathematics *magic*. Thus, PTs may or may not have been exposed to experiences of mathematical *magic*.

Similarly at the K-12 level, mathematical aesthetics have not always been a central concern (Sinclair & Crespo, 2006). In fact, Karp (2008) argues that teachers suggest beautiful mathematics exist outside of the mathematics curriculum. However, recent studies attempt to better define creativity and determine how to encourage it at the K-12 level (e.g., Assmus & Fritzlar, 2022; Lu & Kaiser, 2021). Furthermore, practices that support *magic* are not sufficient to provide equitable and empowering mathematics experiences for traditionally underserved students because attention to students' cultural backgrounds is critical (Battey, 2013). Therefore, there is space for collaboration to ensure equitable approaches to creativity in the K-12 classroom.

Faculty mathematicians in mathematics education research

Mathematicians target two major ideas in courses for prospective teachers (PTs) to understand: the mathematical content and the meta-mathematical experiences, such as the aesthetics, proof, and uses of mathematical definitions (Leikin et al., 2018). However, a lecture does not necessarily convey these kinds of messages to students, even at the post-secondary level (Lew et al., 2016).

In parallel research, due to their different professional roles, professional mathematicians tend to attend to *what* students learn, while teachers tend to focus on *how* students learn (Wade et al. 2016). Therefore, mathematicians, mathematics educators, and mathematics researchers can use different expertise to support learners (Bass, 1997). Mathematicians involved in mathematics education act at the boundaries to transform classroom practice, in both K-12 and the post-secondary classrooms (Darragh, 2022). This mentoring program seeks to support participating teachers and mathematicians to work synergistically to support mathematical *magic*.

Existing mentoring models

Mentoring and induction programs have supported early-career teachers to stay in the profession, increase scores on classroom practice measures, and improve student achievement (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). Other benefits for both mentor and mentee are productive relationships with colleagues, reflection on practice or subject matter, professional development, and personal satisfaction (Ehrich et al., 2004). Additionally, fieldbased mentoring programs can encourage new teachers to change beliefs about groups of students (Garza & Harter, 2016). A constructivist mentoring relationship, rather than transmission-style, supports first-year teachers with their self-efficacy, enthusiasm, job satisfaction, and emotional support (Richter et al., 2013). Reported challenges for mentees and mentors include lack of time, professional or personal mismatch, a non-productive relationship, and additional programmatic commitments (Ehrich et al., 2004).

Research suggests that a content mentor plays a unique role in developing content knowledge and could bolster novice teachers in developing student disciplinary thinking (Achinstein & Davis, 2014; Wang & Paine, 2001). There is limited research on mentoring between professional mathematicians and beginning teachers. In reporting on Math Circles where faculty and teachers worked together, college faculty described extending their pedagogical knowledge and conversations and teachers identified deepened content knowledge as well as expanded repertoires of classroom approaches (Cushman et al., 2023). Further, a mentoring model between PTs and faculty has suggested, among other parameters, that well-established mentoring guidelines and clear communication channels between stakeholders in the project strengthen the program (Hodge et al., 2019). In aligned research on apprenticeship programs that invite science teachers to spend summers assisting scientists an increase in discourse practices, collaboration, changes in classroom practices (Sadler et al., 2010), changes in pedagogical beliefs (Miranda & Damico, 2013), and beliefs about the nature of science (Baker & Keller, 2010) have been identified. In sum, teacher exposure to subject matter experts can positively impact their classroom practice, when appropriately framed. The program described here was designed to benefit to both the teacher and the mathematician as described by Cushman et al. (2023).

Initial mentoring model and purpose

The mentoring model described here was part of a larger preparation and professional learning program designed to support beginning teachers. The five-year program was created to support individuals with strong content preparation to enter and stay in secondary teaching. The two-way mentoring model was conceived to provide beginning teachers with both a mathematician and a master teacher mentor, starting from their preservice year and continuing during their first four years of teaching (Albert, 2019). In the first year of the program, beginning teachers completed a one-year Master's program and associated student teaching for an initial state credential. Each fellow joined a "high needs" district, as defined by grant funders, in a small or medium sized city. During subsequent years, in addition to mentoring, beginning teachers participated in a professional community of mathematicians and mathematics educators attending monthly meetings and four research colloquia per year. In the monthly seminars, mentors and mentees examined problems of practice in the context of contemporary research. The mathematics education colloquia featured practitioners, educators, and researchers in the field of mathematics or mathematics education. The focus of this study is on the mentoring relationship between the beginning teacher and the mathematician.

For the faculty-teacher mentoring pair, pairs met at least twice per year for a pre-meeting, a classroom observation, and a follow-up meeting. Mentors and mentees were also able to contact each other virtually. Mathematicians were not required to use an observation protocol, but were provided with questions to direct their observations. Additionally, pairs attended monthly seminars and colloquia together.

Methods

The study used qualitative, inductive content approach, guided by Elo and Kyngäs (2008), to extract design principles for a mentoring program between a beginning teacher and faculty mathematician that promoted mathematical magic. The data comprised an approximately 60-minute, individual, semi-structured interview with each participant. Participants included seven beginning teachers and three mathematicians. Each teacher had an extensive mathematics content background - six held undergraduate mathematics degrees, and one an engineering degree. Multiple fellows had double majors in subjects including English literature and art. However, the teachers' experiences in schools were more varied, with some who had previously been classroom teachers and others who had not worked in schools professionally. At the time of their interviews, faculty mentors had 10 to 40 years of university experience. Two were current faculty, and one was retired. Two were primarily research mathematicians, while one was primarily a teaching professor.

Because this was a new program, we took an exploratory approach to analyzing the data, using an inductive content analysis, starting with open coding, creating categories and associated memos, and abstracting themes, in this case design principles, from interviews (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008). Further, because the purpose of these analyses was to improve the mentoring between a mathematician and a teacher, special attention was paid to the interactions around mathematics content and pedagogy. Known issues in mentoring were not targeted because while significant, we focused on the unique aspects of this program.

Results

From the analysis, it was apparent that both participating teachers and mathematicians wanted to share with their respective students' ideas of *mathematical magic*. Participants shared a common love for the discipline of mathematics and found mathematics intellectually satisfying. The focus of the results section are the four emergent principles for designing a similar program.

Principle 1: Determine what constitutes mathematical *magic*

All participants described complementary ideas of what constitutes mathematical *magic*. One participating mathematician suggested that mathematical *magic* emerges by using what is known to understand what is unknown. He stated, "mathematics is a lot about pushing boundaries. [...] What happens if we push our boundaries and look for larger and larger structure or different sort of universes to explore?" The mathematician emphasized both a disciplinary principle, examining mathematical structure, and a creative process, problem posing.

A teacher described a complementary conception mathematical *magic* – leveraging patterns to identify generalizations. The teacher stated, "finding ways to capture patterns that we see [...] finding ways to create structure out of the abstract ideas." This teacher also provided a disciplinary practice, pattern seeking, and a creative process central to the discipline, generalization.

In undertaking a mentoring program, we suggest that teachers and mathematicians discuss what mathematics is and their own experiences of mathematical *magic*. The focus should be on both the central disciplinary concerns and how those concerns can support creative mathematical endeavors. As they come to a shared definition of mathematical *magic*, mentoring pairs can then proceed to think about lesson designs that might support it.

Principle 2: Apply knowledge of metamathematical reasoning to design for mathematical *magic*

Both participating teachers and mathematicians believed that the teachers' mathematical subject matter knowledge was well developed for their careers as secondary teachers. However, all participants thought mathematicians could bring expertise in metamathematical reasoning to the K-12 classroom. Metamathematical reasoning is an understanding of the organization of the many sub-fields of mathematics, how mathematical knowledge relatively situated, what should be focused on, and how to differentiate between conventions, axioms, theorems, and so on (Dawkins & Roh, 2016). Mentoring pairs felt this metamathematical expertise would be useful to support beginning teachers to a) locate mathematics content in the mathematical universe and b) identify the kinds of skills, habits, procedures, and understandings that would best serve secondary students.

One teacher described that completing a more rigorous version of a high school proof would help her to, "get some better intuition looking at these high school concepts and how can I connect them to something that I might not be thinking of." Thus, mentoring could help beginning teachers understand how to fit a particular mathematical idea into a larger mathematical world, supporting their continuing development of metamathematical reasoning.

Secondly, while teachers bring expertise in the design of their secondary courses, a mathematician might aid a teacher to understand how to organize and locate those concepts within the mathematical universe beyond the existing curriculum. One mathematician thought he could do this be encouraging task design that supports students to ask questions like, "[Is this] something that works in a specific case or works in a specific type of situation, but does it work in a broader class of situations? How?" In this way, the mathematician and teacher could collaborate to identify how the mathematical topic might have implications for additional study.

Finally, metamathematical reasoning is also useful to identify mathematical objects, procedures, or habits that would serve secondary students to achieve a deep level of mathematical understanding. A beginning teacher described the metamathematical guidance that she would hope to gain in the mentoring relationship,

What are...essential things that you want to instill [in the secondary classrooms] so that later on, you will

be successful? How would you really think about that in a purely mathematical way, including those mathematical concepts that students need to know or maybe we know how to teach these concepts better?

Specifically, the teacher was seeking mathematically-focused advice around which aspects of an idea should be emphasized and extended.

A focus on metamathematical reasoning could provide additional support for mathematical *magic*. Specifically, a deeper understanding of the mathematical universe might provide secondary students with additional skills to recognize the creative possibilities and intellectual challenges in mathematics. For the mentor pairs, we would suggest programming to discuss and identify metamathematical reasoning.

Principle 3: Sharing knowledge of content and teaching/students across contexts to create opportunities for mathematical *magic*

The mentoring pair described that there were some shared practices that translated between secondary and post-secondary contexts. One mathematician described it as bringing, "the experience of a million years as a math teacher." Based on the data, a mathematician's teaching experience might provide transferable expertise in a) describing and organizing problem-solving approaches, b) identifying and addressing student misconceptions, and c) sequencing and tying content together. According to one mathematician, "[a]n advantage for me is the sense that they know I can't really comment with any depth of knowledge about managing the classroom" or other aspects of the secondary context, but can really focus on the transferable expertise.

However, transferring between contexts can be challenging. One mentoring pair had a conversation connecting curricular content to undergraduate mathematics, but the beginning teacher left the conversation thinking, "I would love to share the information that you're telling me, but how could we break it down [for secondary students]?" On the other hand, another beginning teacher was struggling to help ninth-grade students understand formulas for surface area and volume without using ideas from calculus. After a conversation, the beginning teacher reported that the mathematician-mentor, "was definitely helpful in giving me ways that I can answer those questions to a group of students without the use of calculus." While many mathematics teachers might provide this kind of support, the faculty mathematician's focus on mathematical ideas, rather than the secondary context, provided an opening for this conversation.

To address the challenges of translating expertise across various mathematical contexts, we suggest creating a space for explicit conversations about which student experiences of content are parallel, which are transferable with consideration, and which are not. Through these conversations, mentor pairs can begin to address how to design lessons that best harness their joint expertise and provide fertile ground for mathematical magic. Sinclair (2003) suggests that providing diverse perspectives on particular mathematical concepts, these discussions may also encourage real mathematical learning in addition to maintaining teachers' and students' interest in the content. In future iterations, beginning teachers might visit their mathematician-mentors' classrooms to initiate these conversations. Teachers and mathematicians can work alongside each other to design classroom experiences that highlight the why, which may lead to innovative experiences for themselves and students across contexts.

Principle 4: Embracing teachers' expertise in students' mathematical development to create mathematical *magic*

Throughout the mentoring experience, mathematicians repeatedly noted that the beginning teachers had expertise in supporting their students and managing the numerous other requirements for teachers. One mathematician noted that in the face of their mentee's classroom challenges, "it makes me kind of question my mantra that the math content is always primary." In addition to the pedagogical expertise, mentors also referenced how teachers' knowledge of adolescent development influences their content decisions. The difference between secondary and post-secondary levels was described as "a different tenor," by one mathematician, saying, "it is also part of connecting to mathematics as a whole. [...] I like that it is a vertical viewpoint." Beginning teachers need to understand both their students' psychological development and mathematical learning trajectory.

Given what teachers know about students' development trajectory, a mathematician recognized that this was displayed in how teachers choose to deploy mathematical activities. In the following, a mathematician outlines how the teacher he was mentoring used her knowledge of students to prepare them to learn. The mathematician stated:

[The students] played an online game and they had to name the type of triangle [...] And I thought, you know, this teacher's done no content and just teaches them terminology. And then I noticed that the students really liked the game, and they really liked that they could name the different types of triangles. [...] I was very surprised at how successful that was, and the last, maybe a third of the class, she's starting to talk about theorems in geometry [...] and the students were ready to listen.

Because university students are primarily adults, it is assumed they will be primed to learn the material as it is being presented. For this mentee, though, it was important for the students to be successful before they were ready to learn. Another mathematician expressed a similar sentiment, pointing out that his mentees needed to "intentionally [engage] individual students by asking questions or by talking to them," which was different from his experience at the university level.

We anticipate that the application of this design principle will support Principle 3. Beginning teachers have expertise in how individual development and engagement mediates the learning of the content. When considering how to design for mathematical *magic*, teachers' knowledge of their students and the resulting developmentally appropriate a sequence are essential. And while mathematical *magic* is a worthy goal, it might be experienced in very different ways by different students, and thus, teachers' expertise will be invaluable in any curricular designs.

Mentoring Program Challenges

In this section, we will highlight the two major challenges that arose in the program. These challenges are separate from the design principles, but still focused on the context of a mathematician-beginning teacher pair. Beginning teachers and mathematicians, by program design, work in different institutions. This results in two challenges that include: a) not being in proximity when challenges arise and b) having allied but not identical professional roles.

The first challenge arose when beginning teachers noted issues, in planning or classrooms, that need to be addressed quickly and cannot always be predicted. The mathematician mentors were not necessarily in the teachers' immediate physical space when such questions arose, due to working at different institutions. Some of this can be addressed by scheduling regular one-on-one meetings and encouraging video conferencing or other virtual mode of communication. We anticipate that this will increase the accessibility and regularity with which teachers can approach mathematicians for support.

The second, perhaps more challenging, issue was that some teachers felt that the mathematicians could not necessarily engage with issues that they faced as beginning teachers. For example, mathematicians did not necessarily have experience with "students specifically two, three, four grade levels behind" their peers. Secondary teaching is done within the context of schools with adolescents, while mathematicians do mathematics in research groups or teach adults. Generally, the mathematicians had little or no exposure to schools, beyond their own or their children's schooling. While each of them had an investment in mathematics education, most of their professional time was not spent in K-12 schools. Both beginning teachers and mathematicians noted that the mentoring experience providing a grounding in the realities of classrooms for mathematicians. However, we suggest that in a revision of this program, we can unpack these different professional experiences and center the conversations in mathematical magic.

Limitations of the Current Study

Because our teachers serve populations of students that included racial, linguistic, and SES diversity in districts identified as "high needs," attention to issues of power and equity in mathematics classrooms is required for their work and also need to be addressed in undergraduate and graduate education. During the course of the larger mentoring program, mentoring pairs attended colloquia focused on equitable practices in mathematics teaching. Despite this, the mentoring pairs did not report an explicit focus on equitable practices in the teaching of mathematics. The lack of attention to equity and justice issues in conversations around mentoring may have contributed to the teachers' ideas that mathematicians could not interact about the realities of their schools.

In our full data set, issues of structural inequality and effects on the classroom were mentioned briefly in the mathematicians' observations. This discussion did not extend to help learners navigate their realities or how the various identities of these learners might impact their experiences in mathematics. We suggest continuing to provide additional programmatic reinforcement to support growth in both sets of professionals. Considering equity is an essential part of designing for mathematical *magic*.

Closing Thoughts

The principles outlined here are not the only way that a mathematician and a secondary teacher can contribute to a mentoring relationship through mathematical *magic*. Some of our lingering questions relate to issues that arise from this relationship, and these questions may or may not be related to this goal. However, this kind of mentoring relationship can be useful because it provides some direction for doing something that both teachers and mathematicians, at least those who are participating, wanted to do but were unsure of how to complete.

Additionally, we do believe in the promise of this goal. While the aesthetics of mathematics have previously been identified as frivolous or elitist, they are, in fact, closely linked to areas of student engagement and intrinsic motivation that, when carefully considered, could have a social justice purpose in mathematics education (Sinclair, 2009). Lockhart (2009) argues that students are often required to engage in formalism throughout their K-12 schooling before they are given the opportunities to experience mathematical creativity in post-secondary education. Lockhart has been criticized for not focusing on addressing these issues systematically, rather than individually (Tossavainen, 2014). For these mentoring pairs and a larger program, mathematical magic could be supported in the 6-16 academic space, providing a model for a systemic shift.

Additionally, K-12 students have limited conceptions of the work of a mathematician (Latterell & Wilson, 2012). When students do have an opportunity to interact with mathematicians, they came to understand mathematicians' work and expressed more interest in doing this work in their future (Latterell & Wilson, 2012). However, in a previous study with the same participants, we discovered that the mentorship pairing of mathematicians and beginning teachers was a power-free, two-way mutually beneficial connection that was bound by their love of mathematics (Albert, 2019). This aspect embraces the aesthetic nature of mathematical magic. In the future, we suggest that mathematicians are given some opportunities to discuss what they learned, regarding the experience of secondary mathematics classrooms, from their visits with their mentees. In addition, beginning teachers could provide opportunities for students to occasionally interact with mathematicians during their classroom visits. This would provide an additional strength for this project.

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, when experiences in designing courses that can support students to experience mathematical creation are combined with engaging students and understanding their contexts, mathematical *magic* can be born. Leveraging the expertise of both teachers and mathematicians, tasks can be designed and implemented with a focus on the aesthetic. Providing this explicit focus will help mathematicians and beginning teachers think through these experiences and their representation at the secondary or early post-secondary mathematical level. These interactions will also allow us to create a reproducible model of designing and implementing these kinds of explorations that embody mathematical *magic*.

This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. DUE-1339601. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation.

References

- Achinstein, B., & Davis, E. (2014). The Subject of Mentoring: Towards a Knowledge and Practice Base for Content-focused Mentoring of New Teachers. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 22(2), 104–126. https://doi.org/10.1080/136 11267.2014.902560
- Albert, L. R. (2019). Exemplary mathematics teachers for high-need schools: A two-way mentoring model. In J. Leonard, A. Burrows, & R. Kitchen (Eds.) *Recruiting, Preparing, and Retaining STEM Teachers for a Global Generation* (262-288). Brill Sense.
- An, S., Tillman, D., Smith, K., & Hachey, A. (2023). Preservice Teachers' Reflections on the Use of Visual Supports to Improve Mathematics Pedagogy: The Case Study of Fraction and Ratio. *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College*, 14(1), 21-30.
- Assmus, D., & Fritzlar, T. (2022). Mathematical creativity and mathematical giftedness in the primary school age range: an interview study on creating figural patterns. ZDM–Mathematics Education, 54(1), 113-131.
- Baker, W., & Keller, J. (2010). Science Teacher and Researcher (STAR) Program: Strengthening STEM education through authentic research experiences for Preservice and early career teachers. *Peer Review*.

Ball, D. L., & Bass, H. (2009). With an Eye on the Mathematical Horizon: Knowing Mathematics for Teaching to Learners' Mathematical Futures. In *Keynote address at the 43rd Jahrestagung für Didaktik der Mathematik*. Oldenburg, Germany. Retrieved from http://www.mathematik.tu-dortmund.de/ ieem/cms/media/BzMU/BzMU2009/Beitraege/ Hauptvortraege/BALL_Deborah_BASS_ Hyman_2009_Horizon.pdf

Ball, D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(5), 389–407. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0022487108324554

Bass, H. (1997). Mathematicians as Educators. *Notices of the AMS*, 44(1), 14–21.

Battey, D. (2013). "Good" mathematics teaching for students of color and those in poverty: the importance of relational interactions within instruction. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 82(1), 125–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-012-9412-z

Bradforth, S. E., & Miller, E. R. (2015). Improve undergraduate science education. *Nature*, 523, 282–284.

Brinkmann, A. (2009). Mathematical beauty and its characteristics - A study on the student's point of view. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, 6(3), 365–380.

Brinkmann, A., & Sriraman, B. (2009). Aesthetics and Creativity: An exploration of the relationships between the constructs. *Festschrift Celebrating Paul Ernest's 65th Birthday*.

Buckmire, R., Diaz Eaton, C., Hibdon, J., Kinnaird, K. M., Lewis, D., Libertini, J., Ortega, O., Roca, R., & Vindas Meléndez, A. R. (2023). "On Definitions of "Mathematician", *Journal of Humanistic Mathematics*, 13(2), 8-38.

Burton, L. (2001). Research Mathematicians as Learners And What Mathematics Education Can Learn from Them. *British Educational Research Journal*, 27(5), 589–599.

Burton, L. (2007). Mathematicians' narratives about mathematics. In S. Rahman & J. Symons (Eds.), *Logic, Epistemology, and the Unity of Science Volume* 5: Perspectives on Mathematical Practices, (pp. 155– 174). Springer.

Cellucci, C. (2015). Mathematical Beauty, Understanding, and Discovery. *Foundations of Science*, 20(4), 339–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10699-014-9378-7 Crespo, S., & Sinclair, N. (2008). What makes a problem mathematically interesting? Inviting prospective teachers to pose better problems. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 11(5), 395– 415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-008-9081-0

Ehrich, L. C., Hansford, B., & Tennent, L. (2004). Formal mentoring programs in education and other professions: A review of the literature. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 40(4), 518–540. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X04267118

Cushman, J., Donaldson, B., Dow, K., Gantner, R., George, C. Y., & Jaco, W. Merging Inquiry and Math Teachers' Circles: The Math Circles of Inquiry Project. Notices of the Maerican Mathematical Society, 70(6), 963-966.

Dawkins, P. C., & Roh, K. H. (2016). Promoting metalinguistic and metamathematical reasoning in proof-oriented mathematics courses: A method and a framework. *International Journal of Research in Undergraduate Mathematics Education*, 2, 197-222.

Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x

Fetterly, J. M. (2020). Fostering mathematical creativity while impacting beliefs and anxiety in mathematics. *Journal of Humanistic Mathematics*, 10(2), 102-128.

Garza, R., & Harter, R. A. (2016). Perspectives from pre-service mathematics and science teachers in an urban residency program: Characteristics of effective mentors. *Education and Urban Society*, 48(4), 403–420. https://doi. org/10.1177/0013124514533989

Hobbs, L. (2012). Examining the aesthetic dimensions of teaching: Relationships between teacher knowledge, identity, and passion. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(5), 718–727. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tate.2012.01.010

Hodge, A., Rech, J., Matthews, M., Johnson, K.
G., & Jakopovic, P. (2019). Mentoring Future
Mathematics Teachers: Lessons Learned from Four
Mentoring Partnerships. *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College*, 10(2), 37-43.

Ingersoll, R. M., & Strong, M. (2011). The impact of induction and mentoring programs for beginning teachers: A critical review of the research. *Review of educational research*, 81(2), 201-233. Karp, A. (2008). Which problems do teachers consider beautiful? A comparative study. For the Learning of Mathematics, 28(1), 36–43.

Khait, A. (2005). The definition of mathematics: Philosophical and pedagogical aspects. *Science and Education*, 14(2), 137–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11191-005-0029-9

Latterell, C. M., & Wilson, J. L. (2012). Students' Perceptions of What Mathematicians Do, *13*(2), 73–84.

Leikin, R., Zazkis, R., & Meller, M. (2018). Research mathematicians as teacher educators: Focusing on mathematics for secondary mathematics teachers. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 21(5), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-017-9388-9

Lew, K., Fukawa-Connelly, T. P., Mejía-Ramos, J. P., & Weber, K. (2016). Lectures in Advanced Mathematics: Why Students Might Not Understand What the Mathematics Professor Is Trying to Convey. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 47(2), 162. https://doi. org/10.5951/jresematheduc.47.2.0162

Lockhart, P. (2009). A mathematician's lament: How school cheats us out of our most fascinating and imaginative art form. Bellevue Literary.

Lu, X., & Kaiser, G. (2022). Can mathematical modelling work as a creativity-demanding activity? An empirical study in China. *ZDM– Mathematics Education*, 1-15.

Meagher, M. S., Özgün-Koca, S. A., & Edwards, M. T. (2020). Nurturing the Generation and Exploration of Mathematical Conjectures with Preservice Teachers: An Example with a Perimeters Task. *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College*, 11(1), 4–5. https://doi.org/10.7916/jmetc.v11i1.6705

Mintos, A., Hoffman, A. J., Kersey, E., Newton, J., & Smith, D. (2018). Learning about issues of equity in secondary mathematics teacher education programs. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-018-9398-2

Miranda, R. J., & Damico, J. B. (2013). Science Teachers' Beliefs about the Influence of their Summer Research Experiences on their Pedagogical Practices. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 24(8), 1241–1261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-012-9331-y Nardi, E. (2008). Fragile, yet crucial: The relationship between mathematicians and researchers in mathematics education. In *Amongst Mathematicians* (pp. 257–292). Boston, MA: Springer US. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-37143-6_8

Palmer, A. (2009). "I'm not a 'maths-person'!" Reconstituting mathematical subjectivities in aesthetic teaching practices. *Gender and Education*, 21(4), 387–404. https://doi. org/10.1080/09540250802467950

Richter, D., Kunter, M., Lüdtke, O., Klusmann, U., Anders, Y., & Baumert, J. (2013). How different mentoring approaches affect beginning teachers' development in the first years of practice. *Teaching* and *Teacher Education*, 36, 166–177. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tate.2013.07.012

Sadler, T. D., Burgin, S., Mckinney, L., & Ponjuan, L. (2010). Learning Science through Research Apprenticeships: A Critical Review of the Literature. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(3), 235–256. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20326

Sfard, A. (1998). The many faces of mathematics: Do mathematicians and researchers in mathematics education speak about the same thing? In A. Sierpinska & J. Kilpatrick (Eds.), *Mathematics* education as a research domain: A search for identity (pp. 491–512).: Kluwer Academic.

Silver, E. A., & Metzger, W. (1989). Aesthetic influences on expert mathematical problem solving. Affect and Mathematical Problem Solving: A New Perspective, 59–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-3614-6_5

Sinclair, N. (2003). Aesthetic values in mathematics: A value-oriented epistemology. Paper presented at the 27th International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education Conference Held Jointly with the 25th PME-NA Conference, 4, 199-205.

Sinclair, N. (2004). The roles of the aesthetic in mathematical inquiry. *Mathematical Thinking and Learning*, 6(3), 261–284. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327833mtl0603_1

Sinclair, N. (2009). Aesthetics as a liberating force in mathematics education? ZDM - International Journal on Mathematics Education, 41(1–2), 45–60. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11858-008-0132-x

Sinclair, N., & Crespo, S. (2006). What Makes a Good Problem? an Aesthetic Lens. Proceedings of the 30th Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education, 5(1), 129–136.

- Thomas, E. E., & Warren, C. A. (2015). Making it relevant: how a black male teacher sustained professional relationships through culturally responsive discourse. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 20(1), 87–100. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.201 5.1121217
- Tossavainen, T. (2014). A Mathematician's Lament: How School Cheats Us Out of Our Most Fascinating and Imaginative Art Form by Paul Lockhart, Foreword by Keith Devlin: NEW YORK: BELLEVUE LITERARY PRESS, 2009, PAPERBACK, 140 PP., US \$12.95, ISBN: 978-1-934137-17-8. Mathematical Intelligencer, 36(2), 68–69. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00283-013-9438-9
- Wade, C., Sonnert, G., Sadler, P. M., Hazari, Z., & Watson, C. (2016). A comparison of mathematics teachers' and professors' views on secondary preparation for tertiary calculus. *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College*, 7(1), 7–16.
- Wang, J., & Paine, L. W. (2001). Mentoring as assisted performance: A pair of Chinese teachers working together. *The Elementary School Journal*, 102(2), 157–181.
- Zazkis, R., & Leikin, R. (2010). Advanced mathematical knowledge in teaching practice: Perceptions of secondary mathematics teachers. *Mathematical Thinking and Learning*, 12(4), 263–281. https://doi. org/10.1080/10986061003786349

JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE | SPRING 2024 | VOLUME 15, ISSUE 1

© 2024 Justice Enu, Zanele A. Ngcobo. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits the user to copy, distribute, and transmit the work provided that the original authors and source are credited.

Three Ghanaian Preservice teachers' knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy: Implications for teaching and learning of mathematics

Justice Enu Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology Zanele A. Ngcobo University of KwaZulu-Natal

ABSTRACT This article offers an analysis of preservice mathematics teachers' knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy. We draw from Abell and Siegel's (2011) notion of assessment literacy to explain the salient component of assessment literacy among the preservice teachers who participated in this study. Semi-structured and group interviews were used to generate data from three second-year preservice teachers enrolled in a Diploma in Education program. Data were analyzed using thematic analysis.

While the findings revealed that preservice teachers perceive assessment as an ongoing process aimed at gathering information about students' learning, their knowledge is grounded more on summative assessment. Furthermore, it was noted that preservice teachers view assessment as generic and not specific to mathematics teaching. In terms of conducting assessments, preservice teachers concede that time aligns with purpose and that administering assessments is solely the instructor's responsibility. Based on the findings, we concluded that preservice mathematics teachers have limited knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy. Thus, it is recommended that teacher educators pay particular attention to the evolution of preservice mathematics teachers' conception of assessment literacy. It is also recommended that preservice mathematics teachers' classroom assessment practices be investigated to ascertain how their assessment knowledge informs their classroom practices

KEYWORDS Preservice teachers, Assessment literacy, Mathematics, Teaching and learning

Introduction

The advancement of teacher assessment literacy is critical to improving teaching and learning. For example, Wang, Wang, and Huang (2008) posit that teacher assessment literacy is essential to the success of teaching. Of the same view, DeLuca et al. (2013) and White (2009) feel that teachers' assessment literacy enhances the quality of student learning and student learning motivation. Advocating the same point, in 2015, the Government of Ghana launched a program called Transforming Teacher Education and Learning, with technical and financial support from the Government of the United Kingdom. The program aimed to transform the delivery of preservice teacher education in Ghana by improving the quality of teaching at the teacher training colleges. This reform saw the creation of two policy documents: 1) the National Teachers Standard for preservice teachers and 2) the National Teacher Education Curriculum Framework to guide teacher educators, in-service teachers, preservice teachers, and other stakeholders in the education sector. The reform brought about a restructuring of the content and the assessment regime of the teacher training colleges. Some of the major issues relating to assessment contained in these policy documents are as follows:

 Teacher educators need to prepare preservice teachers to be assessment literate so that they understand and apply the principles and procedures for sound classroom assessment of learning (summative) and assessment for learning (formative) and

 Preservice teachers need to know how to use the information from their assessments to support learning (National Council of Assessment and Curriculum (NaCCA), 2018).

The policy calls for preservice teachers to have assessment literacy and to be able to use assessment information to support learning. Therefore, colleges of education need to harness and develop preservice teachers to become assessment literate to ensure they have the knowledge and assessment skills required to be effective when they become in-service teachers. While Ghana's reform policies and framework prioritized the advancement of assessment literacy, a review of the literature has shown that limited research has been carried out on understanding the knowledge of assessment literacy among teacher educators, preservice teachers, and teachers in Ghana, especially in mathematics.

It is no secret that education in Ghana is in crisis (Mereku, 2019) and that this crisis is strongly pronounced in mathematics (Asare & Nti, 2014; Mereku, 2019). Within these parameters, this study aims to understand preservice mathematics teachers' (PsMTs) knowledge of assessment literacy. Focusing on PsMTs is prompted by the fact that the reform program in Ghana emphasizes advancing assessment literacy among preservice teachers. We believe that one's knowledge of assessment informs one's practice in the classroom. As prospective teachers, PsMTs' assessment knowledge will inform their practices when they become in-service teachers. Understanding how they conceptualize assessment literacy would assist in restructuring reforms to advance their knowledge and practice. Therefore, this case study explored the knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy of three second-year Ghanaian PsMTs in the College of Education. To explore this phenomenon, we asked the following research question: How is assessment literacy conceptualized by some preservice mathematics teachers in the [blinded] in Ghana? Conceptualization in this study refers to preservice teachers' understanding of the meaning of assessment, which informs why assessment is to be carried out (purpose of assessment), and the means of doing so (assessment strategies).

Teachers' assessment literacy

Assessment literacy has been defined from different standpoints. Mellati and Khademi (2018) note that assessment literacy is the: Possession of knowledge about the basic principles of assessment and evaluation practices, which includes terminology of assessment concepts such as test, measurement, ... and the use of assessment methodology and techniques in the classroom ... familiarity with an alternative to traditional measurement of learning. (p. 1)

Assessment literacy defines the knowledge and skills one needs to investigate what students know and can do, interpret the results of assessment, and use assessment results to decide how to improve learning (Abell & Siegel, 2011). Popham (2011) contends that "assessment literacy consists of an individual's understanding of the fundamental assessment concepts and procedures deemed likely to influence educational decisions" (p. 265). Stiggins (1999) developed a framework for assessment literacy and proposed seven assessment competencies that teachers need to possess: 1) Connecting assessment to the purpose, 2) Clarifying achievement expectations, 3) Applying proper assessment methods, 4) Developing quality assessment exercises and scoring criteria and sampling appropriately, 5) Avoiding bias in assessment, 6) Communicating effectively about students' achievements, and 7) Using assessment as an instructional intervention. Similarly, Siegel and Wissehr (2011) developed a framework that includes principles, tools, and assessment purposes to explore preservice teachers' assessment literacy. The common aspect among these frameworks is that assessment literacy should advance learning and that knowledge and assessment practices are intertwined. In this study, assessment literacy is defined as the beliefs and knowledge of assessment, based on the framework of Abell and Siegel (2011), because it articulates the key components of assessment literacy, as illustrated in Figure 1.

Abell and Siegel's model considers the various types of assessment knowledge the teacher needs and the

Figure 1





required skills to enhance teaching and learning. In the center of the model are teachers' views of learning, which support the assessment values and principles needed for teaching (Abell & Siegel, 2011). The values and principles interact with four categories of teachers' assessment knowledge: assessment purposes, assessment strategies, assessment interpretation and action-taking, and what to assess. What is emphasized in this framework is the purpose of assessment, meaning that when carrying out an assessment, it is important to consider the purpose for doing so.

The model illustrates the key elements an assessment-literate teacher needs, including a detailed understanding of assessment strategies, which are tools or instruments for gathering evidence of teachers' pedagogy and students' learning. Teachers need to be knowledgeable about formal and informal assessment strategies because they are linked to the type of assessment task that a teacher designs and implements, which in turn reflects their knowledge of assessment purposes and their assessment values (Abell & Siegel, 2011). Knowledge of what to assess refers to teachers' knowledge of mathematics content as concepts and processes. Teachers need to know what, when, how, and why to assess and what to do with assessment data (Abell & Siegel, 2011). These authors explain that a critical component of assessment literacy is what teachers know about interpreting and acting on assessment data. This implies that knowledge of assessment interpretation is about making sense of evidence gathered from assessment, which is born out of teachers' knowledge of the purpose of assessment.

Assessment literacy includes knowing how to use assessment data to help students learn or using evidence from assessments to modify instructional plans. For example, a teacher might use informal questioning as an assessment strategy in a mathematics class when teaching numbers and numerals to learn about students' misconceptions. A teacher might give a formative quiz that asks whether a number with three digits is bigger than a number with two digits, which works in some situations (328 is bigger than 35) but not in the case of numbers with decimals (3.28 is not bigger than 3.5). Based on information generated from the example, the teacher will learn whether another example is needed or if students are ready to move on to a new concept. Teachers' interpretation of assessment as to whether further examples are required or if the teacher needs to modify his/her pedagogy will result from the meaning they make of the assessment data.

Context of the study

This study focused on preservice mathematics teachers in the Central Region of Ghana enrolled in a threeyear Diploma in Basic Education program. A total of 18 PsMTs in their second year of study were invited to participate; however, only three (two males and a female) agreed to participate. Data presented here were collected from these three PsMTs. The three PsMTs who participated in this study had been exposed to assessment both as students and students' teachers in micro-teaching (practice teaching that student teachers engage in on campus) and had been exposed to observing teachers teaching and assessing in neighboring schools. An in-depth case study was used to deeply explore PsMTs' assessment knowledge; hence, the three participants were deemed adequate and appropriate. Respondents ages ranged from 17 – 20 years.

Data collection and analysis

Data were collected using individual semi-structured interviews and a group interview. Semi-structured interviews encourage participants to narrate rather than being restricted in terms of what they should discuss. It also allows researchers to probe to understand the studied phenomenon in depth. In this article, the phenomenon being studied was assessment literacy, and therefore, we focus on PsMTs' knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy. Thus, individual and group interviews were deemed appropriate as they allowed PsMTs to narrate their knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy. Moreover, group interviews assisted the researcher in unearthing the dynamics and synergy in PsMTs' knowledge and understanding of assessment. To ensure the trustworthiness of the data collected, the interviews were recorded. This was done to ensure that the real voices and ideas of the participants were captured. Pseudonym IDs were used to protect the identity of the participants (PsMT1, PsMT2, and PsMT3). The numbers allocated have no meaning in terms of performance or order.

To understand PsMTs' knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy and to stay close to the data, the interview data were first transcribed and then segmented (first-level coding) line by line. They were used to generate codes, as shown in Abell and Siegel's (2011) assessment literacy model (Figure 2). The codes can be found in Table 1.

Figure 2

Example of first-level coding of an extract of an interview transcript from one of the participants

How do you understand assessment?

Assessment, as in education, is trying to *determine how best students have followed instruction* (Evaluating learning). So, assessment could be done through quizzes, interviews, and written papers. That is why we have the formal and informal way of assessing students (Strategies)

Table 1

Codes generated from participants' verbatim responses

Evaluating learning	Teachers' responsibility	Formal assessment method
Evaluating of learning	Curriculum planners responsible for assessing students	Informal assessment method
Gathering information	Accessing students	Assessment type
Finding information	No specific time Assessment occurs during instruction.	Written-test, interviews Different techniques

In the second analysis phase, a constant comparative method was used, and codes carrying the same meaning were collapsed to identify broader categories, (Glaser & Strauss, 2017). Collapsed codes and broader categories are illustrated in Table 2 below.

Table 2

Collapsed categories to arrive at broader categories

Collapsed codes	Categories	Broader categories aligned to the framework
Gathering information and finding information	Evidence gathering	Knowledge of the purpose of assessment
Evaluating learning; evaluating of learning	Assessing student learning	
Teacher responsibility; assessing students	Assessment Implementation	Decision making action taking
Curriculum planners responsible for assessing students;		
Assessment occurs during instruction; No specific time		
Assessment type; Written test, interviews;	Assessment methods/ techniques	Knowledge of assessment strategies
Different techniques formal assessment method; Informal assessment method		

Findings of the study

To answer the research question about preservice mathematics teachers' conception of assessment literacy, the findings are presented using categories that emerged from the data, which we then align to key constructs drawn from the framework guiding the study.

To ascertain preservice mathematics teachers' knowledge of the purpose of assessment, they were asked to narrate their understanding of assessment:

Researcher: What do you consider to be the purpose of assessment?

PsMT3: Gathering information which is educational[ly] important about students so that you can make decisions about them either to intensify the program that they are undergoing or to provide certain remedies to those facing difficulties.

PsMT2: Assessment is to find out information about students for decisions and other purposes.

PsMT1: To find out how best students have followed the instructions.

PsMT1's views contrasted with those of the other two participants, as this preservice teacher regarded assessment as a means of evaluating students' understanding.

To probe further during the group interview to narrow the discussion to classroom mathematics, the preservice mathematics teachers were asked to narrate their conceptions of assessing mathematics. While all narrated a generic view, PsMT3 went further:

Researcher: What do you consider to be the purpose of assessment, particularly in mathematics teaching? **PsMT3:** Mathematics is an integrated subject, so the purpose of assessment is to find out what students know before teaching a topic and after. For example, multiplication builds from addition, so I need to know if they can add whole numbers and use that knowledge to teach multiplication.

PsMT1: I am not sure if it's any different in mathematics; my understanding is that we assess so that we evaluate student learning.

PsMT2: Like in all other subjects, the purpose of assessment is to see if learners have learnt what was taught.

The preservice mathematics teachers conceive assessment as a means to either gather information about the program and students or to evaluate students to ascertain what they know about the topic, thus foregrounding assessment as summative. This positional view contradicts the NaCCA (2018) of Ghana, which emphasizes the importance of both formative and summative assessments. While PsMT3 emphasizes assessing before and after teaching and the need to assess, as alluded to in Abell and Siegel's (2011) framework, none of the preservice mathematics teachers mentioned assessment in learning. This suggests that they do not consider assessment to serve the purpose of ascertaining knowledge and skills while learning occurs.

Preservice mathematics teachers' knowledge and understanding of assessment modes

By modes of assessment, we refer to assessment methods (types or techniques) and timing to administer assessment. Participants shared their views on the forms in which mathematics learning is/can be assessed:

Researcher: What are the modes or techniques through which assessment can be done?

PsMT1: I will say it is only written tests.

PsMT2: We can have tests and anything that will help you to collect information about students.

Thus, PsMT2 added that modes of assessment are any means that offer individuals the opportunity to gather information on student learning. When probed further about other modes of assessment, PsMT2 cited interviews as one of the techniques but was unable to explain how these could be used in assessing learning, suggesting that it is not a method of which she has in-depth knowledge. However, as noted in the above response, PsMT2 emphasized gathering student learning and testing as the common mode of assessment, suggesting that she considers assessment to be summative-driven.

In contrast, PsMT3 stated that assessment could be formal or informal and went on to cite examples of these methods:

PsMT3: ... could be done in two forms, either formal or informal. The informal ones are not structured or organized, like quizzes, exercises, and sometimes observations, but the formal assessments are mostly organized and structured, like the end-of-semester examination that we take.

When probing further to articulate the types of assessment adopted in mathematics classrooms, PsMT1 and PsMT2 could not differentiate between types of assessment and techniques used in the mathematics classroom. While PsMT3 mentioned formative and summative assessment, the emphasis was on assessment used for progression purposes:

Researcher: Which mode of assessment and techniques are used in mathematics classrooms? Also, what is the purpose of those modes and techniques in mathematics?

PsMT3: There are two types of assessment, formative and summative, and the techniques used are either tests, assignments, or projects and investigations. Yes, there are other techniques like question and answer, but those are not used for assessing the depth of the content learnt.

PsMT1: As I have said above, assessing is about evaluating students so things like tests and examinations are used to evaluate students.

PsMT2: To gather information about students, we use tests, assignments, examinations, and so on.

It was noted that PsMT3 knows about informal assessment modes but does not believe it enhances learning. While the NaCCA (2018) policy emphasizes assessment for progression, it also emphasizes the importance of informal assessment. However, the preservice mathematics teachers did not mention baseline or diagnostic assessment, suggesting that the conception of assessment is geared towards assessing for progression purposes. Moreover, while knowledgeable about generic forms of assessment, they could not articulate them in relation to mathematics.

Sharing their conception of the timing for administering assessment, they had the following to say:

Researcher: In your understanding, when is assessment carried out?

PsMT3: During the course of study or at the end of the study. So, if it is during the course of study,

then it becomes a formative assessment. Then, if it is at the end of the course of the study, it becomes a summative assessment. For example, in mathematics, at the end of each lesson, one can administer homework, and at the end of the term, students write examinations.

PsMT2: It is carried out from the beginning to the end of instruction ...

PsMT1: Normally, at the end, but these days, I have to know that the assessment does not have a specific time. We are assessed at any time ...

Therefore, according to PsMT3, the time of assessment is aligned with the purpose. PsMT1 and PsMT2 hold the same view and argue that it forms part of teaching and learning. Although PsMT1's conception seems grounded on evaluating learning, the above response shows that new experiences influenced her conception. We based this on her saying that she understands that assessment has no specific time. What is evident in the preservice teachers' responses is that their beliefs influence their conception of timing regarding the purpose of assessment. However, as we noticed in the case of PsMT1, new experiences ignite new conceptions, suggesting that when exposed to new experiences, they are open to changing their conception.

Preservice mathematics teachers' knowledge of decision-making and action-taking in assessment

Narrating their conceptions about decision-makers in assessing, two of the preservice mathematics teachers remarked that assessment is the responsibility of teachers:

Researcher: In your understanding, who are the role players when it comes to assessment or assessing?

PsMT1: In my own view, teachers are the key role players because they assess the learners, or those who instruct are the assessors.

Similarly, PsMT3 argued that assessment is done by teachers, further stating that head teachers, as well as the curriculum planning division, can also engage in the assessment process.

While holding a similar view, PsMT2 believes that assessing is the responsibility of teachers and peers: **PsMT2:** Assessors are those who collect information concerning the students to make value judgments or other decisions. In this case, assessors are teachers, or it can be a student assessing another student.

Although she considers peers as assessors, her response indicates that her conception of assessment is that of learning and places more emphasis on assessors collecting information to make judgments, with limited attention as to how this contributes to learning.

The preservice mathematics teachers' responses show that of the three, only one mentioned peer assessment, suggesting they mostly hold a narrow view of assessment, as they do not consider students as important in the assessment process. All participants echoed that it is the teacher's responsibility because the purpose is to collect information about students or learning. This contradicts scholars such as Bansilal et al. (2011) and Kanjee and Mthembu (2015), who emphasize that assessment is a cyclic process of knowing and informing teachers and learners about the learning process.

Discussion

This study aimed to examine preservice mathematics teachers' knowledge and understanding of assessment literacy. Based on the data from the interviews, preservice mathematics teachers' assessment literacy was categorized into three areas: knowledge of the purpose of assessment, knowledge of modes of assessment, and knowledge of decision makers and action taking in assessment. The standpoint held by the three preservice mathematics teachers reflects assessment as being of learning, contradictory to DeLuca et al.'s (2013) findings in a study conducted in Canada. Their findings revealed that preservice teachers consider building conversations, praxis activities, modeling and critical reflection, and planning of teaching and learning as key components of assessment. This contrasts with the Ghana preservice mathematics teachers in this study, who consider gathering information about students and evaluating students as key assessment components. However, the participants' conceptions in this study coincide with Volante and Fazio's (2007) findings in a study conducted with preservice teachers enrolled in a four-year program in Canada. Their findings revealed that preservice teachers mostly conceive of assessment as summative, meaning that it is mainly considered to be used for evaluation purposes.

The emphasis on assessment being summative was further evident in the conceptions of assessment techniques or strategies held by the participants, as all foreground the use of tests as the main assessment technique. This finding concurs with those of Yilmaz-Tuzun (2008), who conducted a study with 166 preservice teachers in three Midwestern Universities in the US. Yilmaz-Tuzun (2008) argues that preservice mathematics teachers have a limited collection of assessment strategies they choose from. Therefore, they mostly employ questioning and traditional paper and pencil assessment strategies to evaluate students' learning, even though they are aware of other assessment methods. The findings reveal aspects similar to contexts in other parts of the world. Moreover, the findings have educational implications for the Ghanaian education context, which is, in the transformation stage, to ensure the transformation as stipulated in the policy is translated to practice for the development of the preservice mathematics teachers' assessment literacy.

Implications for mathematics classroom teaching

Drawing from the preservice mathematics teachers' views, it could be argued that the generic view of their purpose of assessment is problematic, especially for mathematics teaching. For example, none of the preservice mathematics teachers foreground assessment in learning, while in mathematics classrooms, it is critical that teaching and assessment are constantly intertwined, as posited by Siegler and Wissehr (2011). However, preservice mathematics teachers mostly consider assessment to evaluate learning, i.e., summative assessment. However, summative assessment is important, especially for benchmarking, and since learning is continuous, assessment should also be continuous. Considering that assessment is used to evaluate learning means that feedback only happens after, which does not inform or enhance the learning process. This contradicts the call by Bansilal et al. (2011), which is that feedback should be continuous and aim at informing learning. Mathematics teaching is anchored in both the process and product. Therefore, focusing on one means that holistic teaching is not taking place.

Limitations

This exploratory study involves three preservice mathematics teachers and does not claim to provide findings representative of all preservice mathematics teachers in Ghana. While having only three participants is considered a limitation, the data generated provided an in-depth understanding of the preservice mathematics teachers' conceptualization of assessment. The use of only interviews can be considered a limitation. However, the study focuses on preservice mathematics teachers' conceptions, not practices. Thus, interviews were deemed most suitable to help us answer our research question.

Conclusion

The findings showed that Ghana's preservice mathematics teachers' conception of assessment is that of learning, which focuses on evaluating students and is driven by testing, with teachers having the most important role in the process of assessing. This conception contradicts Ghana's policy documents on assessment, which aim to transform assessment practices in schools and emphasize assessment for learning, assessment in learning, and assessment of learning (NaCCA, 2018).

Based on the findings of this study, we conclude that Ghana's preservice mathematics teachers need exposure to multiple modes of assessment during their teacher training to influence their conception such that it is not one-dimensional but encompasses both formative and summative assessment. As Siegel and Wissehr (2011) mooted, knowledge about a variety of assessment types allows teachers to select the most appropriate and effective instrument to meet their relevant learning needs, exposing preservice mathematics teachers to multiple forms of assessment that are necessary to advance their conception of assessment literacy. As suggested by Kanjee and Mthembu (2015), the development of assessment literacy should be an integral part of teacher training because it influences the quality of teaching in schools.

References

- Abell, S. K., & Siegel, M. A. (2011). Assessment literacy: What science teachers need to know and be able to do. In D. Corrigan, J. Dillon, & R. Gunstone (Eds), *The professional knowledge base of science teaching* (pp. 205-221). Springer.
- Asare, K. B., & Nti, S. K. (2014). Teacher education in Ghana: A contemporary synopsis and matters arising. SAGE Open, 4(2), 8. https://doi. org/10.1177%2F2158244014529781
- Bansilal, S., James, A., & Naidoo, M.(2011). Whose voice matters? Learners. South African Journal of Education, 30, 153-165.
- DeLuca, C., Chavez, T., Bellara, A., & Cao, C. (2013). Pedagogies for preservice assessment education: Supporting teacher candidates' assessment literacy development. *The Teacher Educator*, 48(2), 128-142.
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (2017). *Discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research.* Routledge.

Kanjee, A., & Mthembu, J. (2015). Assessment literacy of foundation phase teachers: An exploratory study. *South African Journal of Childhood Education*, 5(1), 142-168.

Mellati, M., & Khademi, M. (2018). Exploring teachers' assessment literacy: Impact on learners' writing achievements and implications for teacher development. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education* (*Online*), 43(6), 1-18.

Mereku, D. K. (2019). Sixty years of teacher education in Ghana: Successes, challenges and the way forward. African Journal of Educational Studies in Mathematics and Science, 15(2), 69–74. https://doi. org/10.4314/ajesms.v15i2.6

National Council for Curriculum and Assessment. (2018). National Teacher Education Curriculum Framework. Ghana: Ministry of Education.

Popham, W. J. (2011). Assessment literacy overlooked: A teacher educator's confession. *The Teacher Educator*, 46(4), 265-273.

Rowland, T., & Ruthven, K. (Eds) (2011). Introduction: Mathematical knowledge in teaching. In *Mathematical knowledge in teaching* (pp. 1-5). Springer. Siegel, M. A., & Wissehr, C. (2011). Preparing for the plunge: Preservice teachers' assessment literacy. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 22(4), 371-391.

Stiggins, R. J. (1999). Evaluating classroom assessment training in teacher education programs. *Educational measurement: Issues and practice*, 18(1), 23-27.

Volante, L., & Fazio, X. (2007). Exploring teacher candidates' assessment literacy: implications for teacher education reform and professional development. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 30(3), 749-770.

Wang, T.-H., Wang, K.-H., & Huang, S.-C. (2008). Designing a web-based assessment environment for improving preservice teacher assessment literacy. *Computers & Education*, 51(1), 448-462.

White, E. (2009). Are you assessment literate? Some fundamental questions regarding effective classroom-based assessment. *OnCUE Journal*, 3(1), 3-25.

Yilmaz-Tuzun, O. (2008). Preservice elementary teachers' beliefs about science teaching. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 19(2), 183-204.

NOTES FROM THE FIELD

The Spring 2024 issue features two Notes from the field on the teaching of discrete mathematics. Fran and Vistro-Yu look at the use of "Fran-kards", a manipulative used in facilitating teaching probability. Pogore-lova et al. present a problem-based curriculum in combinatorics to assist in the teaching of the multiplication principle.

JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE | SPRING 2024 | VOLUME 15, ISSUE 1

© 2024 Frankie A. Fran, Catherine P. Vistro-Yu. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits the user to copy, distribute, and transmit the work provided that the original authors and source are credited.

NOTES FROM THE FIELD

Manipulatives in a Mathematics Classroom: The Case of Frankards

Frankie A. Fran Ateneo de Manila University, Romblon State University Catherine P. Vistro-Yu Ateneo de Manila University

KEYWORDS Frankards, innovation, instructional design, manipulatives

Introduction

Teachers are tasked with providing opportunities that cultivate and maximize learning. A wide array of approaches can be used to achieve this goal, one of which is manipulatives. We present a teacher-developed manipulative and explain its use in the classroom. We illustrate how this manipulative can be used to teach the concepts of mutually and non-mutually exclusive events.

According to Bartolini and Martignone (2020), mathematical manipulatives are artifacts utilized in teaching mathematics. These are used to explore and investigate mathematical concepts and processes, particularly problem solving. Manipulatives can either be concrete or virtual. The *Encyclopedia of Mathematics Education*

Figure 1

Deck of Frankards



Note: This figure is adapted from Fran (2021, p. 2).

defined concrete manipulatives as "physical artifacts that can be concretely handled by students and offer a large and deep set of sensory experiences." In contrast, virtual manipulatives are "digital artifacts that resemble physical objects and can be manipulated in a similar way as their authentic, concrete counterpart" (Bartolini & Martignone, 2020, p. 365). The teacher-developed manipulative, *Frankards*, is "a set of 56 cards specifically crafted to assist teachers in teaching probability concepts through concrete manipulation" (Fran, 2021, p. 2). The deck of *Frankards*, as shown in Figure 1, is a copyrighted work in the National Library of the Philippines with registration number O2021-01.

Typically, teachers use a standard deck of cards to illustrate some ideas of probability. However, they

are banned to prevent students from engaging in gambling-related activities. As a result, the first author developed *Frankards* (see Figure 1), which is more mathematical in form than the standard deck of cards. Divided into blue and green cards, *Frankards* is composed of four alpha cards, thirty-six arithmetic cards, and sixteen Multiplication-Division-Addition-Subtraction (MDAS) cards. This was designed to provide students a more engaging learning experience through concrete manipulation as they learn the mathematical concepts.

Teaching and Learning with Manipulatives

Mathematics teachers have long utilized manipulatives, and some have been proven to be effective in teaching some important concepts in mathematics. Students who use manipulatives, specifically algebra tiles, performed better in algebraic operations than students who never worked with the same material (Larbi & Mavis, 2016). Salifu (2022) also suggested that algebra tiles be utilized in teaching algebraic processes such as solving linear equations. Thus, it is recommended that educators use manipulatives in teaching algebra.

Gurung and Chaudhary (2020) showed that learning with concrete manipulatives in a mathematics class results in a more meaningful learning experience for students. Similarly, concrete manipulatives encourage teachers to be more creative in teaching abstract concepts. For manipulatives to be used effectively, learners' real-life experiences must be considered (Eby, 2022). Teachers should also utilize a variety of instructional manipulatives, depending on the topic being discussed. Teachers should take note of how the lessons are designed when using manipulatives. Manipulatives provide an avenue for learners to explore and understand the topics in a meaningful and enjoyable way. This was supported by Furner and Higgins (2022), who pointed out that manipulatives aid and motivate students to learn mathematical concepts and skills.

In cases where students experience anxieties in learning mathematics, Stoehr and Olson (2021) highlighted that teachers' use of manipulatives helps reduce the anxieties through engaging learning activities. With the positive effects of using manipulatives, Kontas (2016) recommended that teachers use these instructional materials more frequently to maximize student learning. It was also noted that manipulatives are instrumental in giving meaning to abstract mathematics concepts.

Figure 2

Illustration for Example 1

Aside from helping students create their own representation of abstract mathematical concepts, manipulatives also assist learners in communicating what they have understood to their teachers and peers (Odum, 2022). As with previously studied manipulatives, *Frankards* holds promise of aiding students' comprehension when entering an unfamiliar land, in this case, one involving probabilistic concepts (Fran, 2021).

Using Frankards in the Mathematics Classroom

The use of *Frankards* in teaching probability has been shown to contribute to students' achievement with a significant increase in test scores (Fran, 2021). This report will discuss the applications of *Frankards* in teaching probability through illustrative examples. These problems were anchored on the learning competencies set by the Philippines' Department of Education for Grade 10 Mathematics, focusing on mutually and non-mutually exclusive events. Mutually exclusive events are events that cannot occur at the same time. On the other hand, non-mutually exclusive events can happen simultaneously. If the problems involve mutually exclusive events, equation (1) is used. On the other hand, equation (2) is used if the problem involves non-mutually exclusive events.

$$P(A \text{ or } B) = P(A) + P(B) \tag{1}$$

$$P(A \text{ or } B) = P(A) + P(B) - P(A \cap B)$$
(2)

Example 1. Mutually Exclusive Events

Let us consider the following problem:

In a standard deck of Frankards, find the probability of getting an alpha or MDAS card.

Solution:

To solve this problem, let A be the alpha cards and B be the MDAS cards. Then, *Frankards* will be utilized, as shown in Figure 2.



As shown in Figure 2, getting an alpha card and an MDAS card cannot happen simultaneously. Since the problem is a mutually exclusive event, the equation to be used is (1). Hence,

$$P(A \text{ or } B) = P(A) + P(B)$$
$$P(A \text{ or } B) = \frac{4}{56} + \frac{12}{56}$$
$$P(A \text{ or } B) = \frac{16}{56} \text{ or } \frac{2}{7}$$

Example 2. Non-mutually Exclusive Events

Let us consider the following problem:

In a standard deck of Frankards, find the probability of getting a blue or arithmetic card.

Solution:

To solve this problem, let A be the blue cards, and B be the arithmetic cards. Then, *Frankards* will be utilized, as shown in Figure 3.

As shown in Figure 3, getting a blue card and an arithmetic card shows that the problem is a non-mutually exclusive event. It can be shown that one can draw a blue arithmetic card from the deck. Hence, the equation to be used is (2). Using (2), then,

Figure 3

Illustration for Example 2



$$P(A \text{ or } B) = P(A) + P(B) - P(A \cap B)$$
$$P(A \text{ or } B) = \frac{28}{56} + \frac{36}{56} - \frac{18}{56}$$
$$P(A \text{ or } B) = \frac{46}{56} \text{ or } \frac{23}{28}$$

Feedback from Students and Teachers

The use of *Frankards* in the classroom does not only allow learners to understand the abstract concepts of mathematics. It also engages students in class activities through concrete manipulation (Fran, 2021). As mentioned by one of the students:

"Frankards inspired us, students, to love math and to eradicate our math anxiety."

- Student 1

When used in teaching manipulatives, *Frankards* also changes the perspectives of the learners in studying probability concepts. As noted by Student 2:

"Frankards really changed my point of view for cards because who would have thought that playing cards can be used as teaching materials."

- Student 2

Teachers also found *Frankards* to be helpful to them and, more importantly, to the students. As stated by one of the teachers:

"Their [Frankards] use will be more interesting to the students because they look more mathematical in form as the suits that were used are addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division symbols."

- Teacher 1

Generally, both teachers and students found *Frankards* useful in teaching and learning probability.

Concluding Statements

As educators, it is imperative that we provide learners with opportunities to allow learners to reach their full potential. One way is by immersing them in activities that utilize manipulatives. *Frankards*, as discussed in this short report, showcased its potential to be an effective instructional manipulative in teaching probability concepts and mastering numerical skills such as fractions. Hence, it is suggested that *Frankards* be used as instructional material to engage and motivate students in learning probability and other related concepts such as permutation and combination.

References

- Bartolini, M. G., & Martignone, F. (2020). Manipulatives in mathematics education. *Encyclopedia of Mathematics Education*, 487-494. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15789-0_93
- Eby, K. E. (2022). Effective math manipulatives to use with the BEST standards in grades K-6. *Transformations*, 8(1), 34-45.
- Fran, F. A. (2021). Analyzing students' achievement and attitude through the Frankards context in learning probability. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1957(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1957/1/012010
- Furner, J. M., & Higgins, C. M. (2022). Propensities by grade of math anxiety levels K-12: Addressing mathematics dispositions and how manipulatives may help. *Transformations*, 8(1), 6-32. https://doi. org/10.1088/1742-6596/1957/1/012010
- Gurung, R. K., & Chaudhary, D. K. (2022). Effectiveness of instruction with manipulative materials on fourth graders' geometry learning achievement. *Journal of Bhuwanishankar*, 1(1), 69-84. https://doi.org/10.3126/jobs.v1i1.49495

- Kontas, H. (2016). The effect of manipulatives on mathematics achievement and attitudes of secondary school students. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 5(3), 10-20. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/jel. v5n3p10
- Kwabena Odum, J. (2022). Manipulative materials in teaching mathematics among junior high school teachers: A literature review. *Scholars Journal of Science and Technology*, 3(4), 787-795. https://doi. org/10.53075/Ijmsirq/56567853
- Larbi, E., & Mavis, O. (2016). The use of manipulatives in mathematics education. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(36), 53-61.
- Salifu, A. S. (2022). The Effects of Balance Model and Algebra Tiles Manipulative in Solving Linear Equations in One Variable. *Contemporary Mathematics and Science Education*, 3(2), ep22012. https://doi.org/10.30935/conmaths/12028
- Stoehr, K. J., & Olson, A. M. (2021). Elementary prospective teachers' visions of moving beyond mathematics anxiety. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13394-021-00379-6

JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE | SPRING 2024 | VOLUME 15, ISSUE 1

© 2024 Lioubov Pogorelova, Stephanie Sheehan-Braine, Anthony John, Nicholas H. Wasserman. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits the user to copy, distribute, and transmit the work provided that the original authors and source are credited.

NOTES FROM THE FIELD

A Problem-based Curriculum to Develop the Multiplication Principle for Counting

Lioubov Pogorelova New York University Stephanie Sheehan-Braine New York, NY Anthony John New York, NY Nicholas H. Wasserman Teachers College, Columbia University

KEYWORDS *multiplication principle, problem-based learning, variation theory*

Introduction

Multiplication is relatively simple and is at the core of solving counting exercises. The multiplication principle (MP) specifies the conditions under which we should use multiplication in combinatorics problems. Yet counting exercises are notoriously difficult (e.g., Batanero et al., 1997; Hadar & Hadass, 1981). Given this difficulty, we explore nuances of the MP for counting that address students' difficulties. This paper proposes a problem-based curricular sequence to develop the MP for counting, with a focus on problem-based learning in combinatorics education.

Problem-based Learning and Combinatorics Education

Problem-based learning (PBL) is a pedagogy that is organized around problem-solving activities. PBL facilitates meaning-making, constructing, discovering, and engaging with information with a structured sequence of tasks (Rhem, 1998). Recent studies suggest that PBL is an effective pedagogical approach to mathematics education, increasing students' interest and motivation (Cerezo, 2004; Mahmood & Jacobo, 2019).

Research suggests that students hold misconceptions about multiplication in combinatorics (Lockwood et al., 2015). For this paper, we use Tucker's (2012) definition of the MP (italics added):

"The Multiplication Principle: Suppose a procedure can be broken into *m* successive (*ordered*) stages, with r_1 different outcomes in the first stage, r_2 different outcomes in the second stage, ..., and r_m different

outcomes in the *m*th stage. If the number of outcomes at each stage is *independent* of the choices in previous stages and if the *composite outcomes are all distinct*, then the total procedure has $r_1 \times r_2 \times ... \times r_m$ different composite outcomes" (p. 180).

This definition captures the conditions under which multiplication can be used in counting. However, research suggests that students grapple with significant challenges in the context of counting problems (e.g., Lockwood & Purdy, 2019).

The following four collections of PBL exercises highlight the subtleties of the MP in combinatorics by providing pedagogical scaffolds through the structure and sequence of these exercises.

Collection 1

One way we can learn is through contrast, that is, understanding concept x by contrasting it with concept y. Table 1 highlights the fundamental difference between multiplication and addition through contrast of these concepts, albeit in the same context of the exercises.

In order to solve Exercise 1, multiplication must be used in a two-stage process. For example, we might first pick a donut and then a coffee. The resulting breakfasts are composite outcomes—i.e., (donut, coffee) pairs. For each of the five types of donuts, we might choose any of four flavors of coffee, giving us a total of 20 possible breakfasts. In general, with *d* options for donuts and *c* options for coffee, d^*c (donut, coffee) pairs are possible. Exercise 1 might be used to illustrate the process-oriented approach to counting used by the MP, in which we use ordered stages to perform a procedure that results in composite outcomes.

Table 1

Exercises 1-2

Exercise 1: At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. You decide to order a breakfast consisting of a donut and a cup of coffee. How many different possible breakfasts could you order? *Answer:* 5*4=20.

Exercise 2: At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. You decide to order a breakfast consisting of exactly one item. How many different possible breakfasts could you order? *Answer:* 5+4=9.

Addition must be used to solve Exercise 2. In contrast to the breakfasts in Exercise 1, the breakfasts in Exercise 2 are *not* the composite result of a two-stage process but instead are selections from two disjoint sets—breakfasts consisting of a donut and breakfasts consisting of a coffee. Counting, however, still might take place in two stages. First, we count the five donut breakfasts, and then we count the four coffee breakfasts for a total of 5+4=9 breakfasts. In general, with *d* options for donuts and *c* options for coffee, *d*+*c* breakfasts are possible. These problems highlight the counting principles to distinguish multiplication from addition while providing the same contextual elements.

Collection 2

A second way we learn is through generalization, a process through which students experience sameness by observing that a concept applies across a range of relevantly similar instances. But this brings up the question of how those instances are similar. Exercises 3-5 in Table 2 introduce several real-world scenarios for counting

Table 2

Exercises 3-5

Exercise 3: At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. Coffee is served either with cream or without. You decide to order a breakfast that consists of a donut and a coffee. How many different possible breakfasts could you order? *Answer:* 5*4*2.

Exercise 4: Consider towns A, B, C, and D. Between A and B are 3 roads, between B and C are 4 roads, and between C and D are six roads, as shown below.



(i) How many routes are there to get from A to D?

(ii) Suppose you are either going to drive, bike, or walk. How many different experiences are there to get from A to D?

(iii) Suppose on each road you could drive, bike, or walk. How many different experiences are there to get from A to D?

Answers: (i) 3*4*6. (ii) 3*(3*4*6); (iii) (3*3)*(4*3)*(6*3).

Exercise 5: Suppose you have a class of 12 students. Those students are going to have a race, with 1st place receiving a gold medal, 2nd place a silver medal, and 3rd place a bronze medal. How many possible outcomes for the race are there? *Answer:* 12*11*10.

problems—a café, routes between towns, and a class of students that can be used to generalize important facets of multiplication in counting exercises.

Compared to Exercise 1, Exercise 3 introduces a new stage to the counting process: coffee with or without cream. Thus, *for each* of the 5*4 breakfasts in Exercise 1, you can now order your coffee

in one of two ways—with or without cream. This notion that "for each outcome," there are x more options is a critical way to understand the MP. Breakfasts are now (donut, coffee, cream) triples—the result of a three-stage counting process that yields 5*4*2 composite outcomes. Exercise 3 also introduces a dichotomous option (with or without) that is often useful in counting.

Exercise 4 provides a new context but uses the MP in much the same way as in Exercise 3. Like Exercise 3, part (i) of Exercise 4 requires an approach to counting that uses the MP with three successive ordered stages. This time, though, we have three options in the first stage, four in the second, and six in the third. Hence, the solution is 3*4*6. Parts (ii) and (iii) extend the context, adding even more stages to the process. Part (ii) introduces a modality to the experience in which, *for each* of the 3*4*6 total routes, you could travel in one of three ways—driving, biking, or walking. In part (ii), you cannot switch from one mode of transportation to another—say, driving from town A to town B, biking from town B to town C, and walking from town C to

> town D. The travel modality must remain consistent for the entire journey. Each composite outcome expands with the modality option, and experiences are now (road A, road B, road C, mode) quadruples. Unlike part (ii), part (iii) allows you to switch from one mode of transportation to another at the towns. For example, if you drive from town A to town B, you can still either drive, bike, or walk from town B to town C. As a result, the distinct composite outcomes change from quadruples to sextuples: experiences are (road A, mode A, road B, mode B, road C, mode

C) sextuples. In all of these variants, the actual options in each stage of the counting process are always the same—meaning, no matter which road you take from A to B, you have the same three modality options, and there will be the same four possible roads from B to C.

Exercise 5 explicitly asks the solver to coordinate students with medals and positions. That is, we can consider a solution to be triples of the form (Gold Student A, Silver Student B, Bronze Student C). In this way,

Table 3

|--|

Concept	Critical Feature	Range of Permissible Change
Multiplication Principle for Counting	Order	 [We differentiate "outcome vs. process" and "ordinal vs. categorical"] 1. Ordinal outcomes 2. Ordered process and categorical outcomes 3. Unordered outcomes
	Independence	 [We differentiate "set vs. cardinality" (i.e., A vs. A)] 1. Independent in set and cardinality 2. Independent in cardinality but not set 3. Not independent in cardinality
	Distinct Options	 Distinct options Non-distinct options (i.e., at least two options are of the same type)
	Distinct Composite Outcomes	 Distinct composite outcomes Non-distinct composite outcomes

Table 4

Exercises 6-7

Exercise 6:

(i) Suppose you are given the letters ARC. How many different arrangements of all three letters are possible?

(ii) Now, consider from a class of 12 students, there were 12*11*10 possible outcomes for coming in 1st, 2nd, and 3rd place in a race. For each of these two problems, list 5 outcomes. Then describe what it is that makes one outcome different from another one. *Answers:* (i) 5 outcomes: ARC, ACR, CRA, CAR, RCA. (ii) 5 outcomes: If we label the students A, B, C, ..., L, then: ACD, ADC, LAC, KBL, CDE.

Exercise 7: Suppose you have a class of 12 students.

(i) The class is now going to select a committee of 3 students to be representatives at a larger gathering. How many possible committees of students from the class are there?
(ii) The class is going to select a committee of 3 students to be representatives at a larger gathering. On the committee, there is a President, VP, and Treasurer. How many possible committees of students from the class are there? *Answers*: (i) Not 12*11*10. [Answer is 12*11*10/6.] (ii) 12*11*10.

there are 12 possible options for the stage identifying which student receives the (first) gold medal, and, subsequently, 11 options for the second silver medal stage, and finally, ten options for the third bronze medal, leading to 12*11*10 possible outcomes. In contrast to the previous exercises, the options in each stage change depending on the choice(s) in the previous stage(s) (i.e., a student who receives the gold medal cannot also be selected for the silver medal).

Collection 3

Table 3 highlights four nuances (i.e., critical features) of the MP that correspond to the italicized parts of the definition of the MP mentioned previously: *order*, *independence*, *distinct options*, and *distinct composite outcomes*. The range of possible values for each critical feature is also provided. Each critical feature is accentuated by varying that feature, while keeping the other features invariant.

Order

Although multiplication is commutative, the MP suggests that we adopt an explicit order to the stages in the counting process before we use multiplication (Lockwood et al., 2017; Lockwood & Purdy, 2019). Exercises 6-7 (Table 4) highlight the different ways in which order may appear in counting problems and address the range of permissible change as it relates to order in the MP.

Exercise 6 introduces arrangements. Critical in parts (i) and (ii) is the arrangement of the outcomes themselves (i.e., each letter in the arrangement has an ordinal position). Order also occurs in general, with each element having an ordinal position. For example, we can compare parts (i) and (ii) on the order dimension. ARC is different from CAR, even with the same letters, because the letters are in a different order. Thus, it is not just the subset of letters included but their different orders that the MP enumerates. Use of the MP links to order and includes, as illustrations, exercises having ordinal outcomes—first position, second position, and so forth.

Exercise 7 considers ranges of permissible change of order in the MP. Like part (ii) of Exercise 6, part (i) of Exercise 7 provides a context of a class of 12 students, but the ordered first, second, and third places from the prior exercise have changed to a 3-person committee in which order is irrelevant. The goal is to help students recognize that 12*11*10 is not the correct solutionbecause the use of the MP would include all possible orderings. For example, in part (ii) of Exercise 6, ACD was different from DAC, because in the former, A wins the gold, while in the latter, D wins the gold. In contrast, in part (i) of Exercise 7, we could imagine forming a committee in which ACD is identical to DAC, because they are comprised of the same students. For present purposes, students need not know the correct solution-i.e., (12*11*10)/6. The point is to help students identify order as a critical feature of the use of multiplication in counting.

Table 5

Exercises 8-10

Exercise 8: Consider the solution to a previous exercise: There were 3*4*6 different routes to get from A to D.

(i) If we label each of the thirteen roads with a unique name (e.g., Abrams Street), give 5 outcomes for routes between A and D.

(ii) Describe whether or not your choice for the road between B and C depends on the road you took between A and B.

(iii) Describe whether or not the number of choices you have for roads between B and C depends on the road you took between A and B.



Answer: (i) Call the streets A, B, C, ..., M. Choose from A,B,C first, then D,E,F,G second, then H,I,J,K,L,M last. So: AFM, BEL, BFJ, CDI, CGM. (ii) The choice of D,E,F,G did not depend on the choice for A,B,C. (iii) The number of choices was always 4.

Exercise 9: Each of the following problems has 5*4 as its answer. (i) Suppose you are given the letters MARCH. Ana is trying to count how many different possible rearrangements of two of the five letters are possible.

(ii) At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. Suppose you order a breakfast that consists of a donut and a coffee. How many different possible breakfasts could you order?

This means for each of the 5 initial options, there are 4 remaining options. List out the 4 remaining options for each problem. How are those lists different? What do you observe is common between the two problems?

Answers: (i) If M, then A, R, C, H; if A, then M, R, C, H; if R, then M, A, C, H; if C, then M, A, R, H; if H, then M, A, R, C. (ii) C1, C2, C3, C4.

Exercise 10: At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. Suppose that the café is down to 20 donuts (2 glazed donuts; 4 sprinkled; 1 jelly; 8 cake; and 5 twists), and that you are ordering three donuts, one for Sam, Jenny, and Walter. How many different possible breakfasts for those three friends could you order? Explain why the solution 5*5*5 is incorrect. *Answer:* With a limited supply, independence of cardinality does not work (if you choose Glaze, Glaze, then there are no more Glazed donuts and so only 4 options for the third (not 5)). [Actual answer is 111.]

Part (ii) of Exercise 7 asks students to form a committee of three people whose roles are not inherently ordinal and thus differ from the roles in part (ii) of Exercise 6, which are ordinal. Nonetheless, by using an ordered process in selecting the candidates, first for the Treasurer, then the Vice President, and finally the President, the MP treats the (Treasurer, Vice President, President) triples as though they were ordered. That is, we would interpret any of the 12*11*10 triples as ordered: the first selected student is the Treasurer, and so on. Because we draw from the same set of 12 students, the triples (A, B, C) and (C, B, A) would both be included in the 12*11*10 solutions, and would represent different solutions, since in the former, A is the Treasurer, while in the latter, C is the Treasurer. By varying the type of outcomes, this exercise highlights the way in which ordered processes can coincide with outcomes.

Independence

Independence—i.e., the concept that the number of options at each stage of a counting process must be independent of each other—is a critical feature of the MP. Exercises 8-10 in Table 5 highlight the different ways

in which independence may inspire the use of the MP.

In Exercise 8, the options are independent in both set and cardinality—i.e., to get from B to C, students always choose from the same set of roads, and they always choose from the same number of roads. After listing five outcomes in part (i), students determine in part (ii) whether their choice of road between B and C depends on the road they take between A and B. Using the diagram as a tool, they should recognize that no matter the road they take between A and B, they will always have to choose one of the four roads joining B to C-the set of choices they have is independent of any choice of road from A to B. As for part (iii), since the set is the same, its cardinality is too: there are always the same four choices.

Exercise 9 demonstrates a situation that is independent in

cardinality but not in set. Scenario (b) is analogous to Exercise 1: If the four coffee flavors are {Regular, Vanilla, Hazelnut, Pecan}, then one is always choosing from those same four options, regardless of which donut is selected. Scenario (a), however, is different. If the letter M is first, then the four options for the second letter are {A, R, C, H}, but if the letter A is first, then the four options for the second letter are {M, R, C, H}, and so on. Here, the set of options for the second letter is *dependent* on the choice for the first letter. What is common in scenarios (a) and (b) is that there are always four options-even though they may not be the same four options. Thus, independence of the cardinality of the options may come either with the options themselves being independent, as in scenario (b), or with the options changing but always retaining the same quantity, as in scenario (a).

Exercise 10 involves a limited number of each type of donut. Many students may mistake 5*5*5 for the correct solution. The crux of the matter is, however, that the cardinality of options is not independent of prior choices. For example, if you order Sam a glazed and Jenny a glazed, then the café would run out of glazed donuts, and only four donut options would remain for Walter. But if you order Sam a glazed and Jenny a sprinkled, then five donut options would remain for Walter. The number of options changes depending on what happens in prior stages, and we cannot use the MP in this way.

Distinct Options

Distinct options are a third critical feature of the MP. Options are distinct when they are distinguishable at each stage of the process. Exercises 11-12 in Table 6 highlight how distinct and non-distinct options influence the application of the MP.

Exercise 11 highlights distinct and non-distinct options using the letters MASS. In part (i), the proposed solution is not correct because MASS does not contain four distinct letters due to the repetition of the letter S. However, in part (ii), the suggested solution would be appropriate for the letters MAS1S2, because the subscripts provide distinct options. Only when the options at each stage are distinct can we use the MP to count.

In Exercise 12, while the café has 20 donuts, the two glazed donuts are the same, the four sprinkled donuts are the same, and so on. For example, suppose we number the sprinkled donuts D3, D4, D5, D6. Then the 20*19*18 solutions would include (D3, D4, D5), (D5, D4, D3), and so forth, which are really all *one* solution: Sam, Jenny, and Walter each get a sprinkled donut. By using a familiar context and keeping all other critical features the same, one can distinguish a situation that contains non-distinct options from a situation that contains distinct options.

Distinct Composite Outcomes

Table 6

Exercises 11-12

Exercise 11: Determine the number of different rearrangements of the four letters of MASS. (i) Explain whether the solution 4*3*2*1 is correct or not. (ii) If we differentiated the S's as S1 and S2, would 4*3*2*1 count the number of

rearrangements of the letters MAS_1S_2 ?

Answer: (i) Not correct. There are not 4 "distinct" options. (ii) Yes, correct. There are now 4 "distinct" options.

Exercise 12: At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. Suppose they are down to 20 donuts (2 glazed donuts, 4 sprinkled, 1 jelly, 8 cake, and 5 twists), and that you are ordering three donuts, one for Sam, Jenny, and Walter. How many different possible breakfasts for those three friends could you order? Explain why the solution 20*19*18 is incorrect. *Answer:* 20*19*18 is not correct because the options are not distinct—there are not 20 different donuts—the 2 "glazed" donuts are the same. [Actual answer is 111.]

Table 7

Exercises 13-14

Exercise 13: At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. You are ordering three donuts, one for Sam, one for Jenny, and one for Walter. How many different possible breakfasts for these three people could you order? *Answer*: 5*5*5.

Exercise 14: Suppose you have a class of 12 students, 8 of whom are American, 2 European, and 2 Asian. The class is going to select a committee of 3 students to be representatives at a larger gathering, with at least 1 Asian and 1 European student on the committee. How many possible committees of students from the class are there? *Answer:* 1*2 + 1*2 + 2*2*12.

The final critical feature of the MP is distinct composite outcomes. Here, we consider the distinctness not just of the options at each stage in the process, but also of the composite outcomes resulting from completing all stages of the process. From a set-theoretic perspective, this represents whether a oneto-one correspondence exists between the counting process and a set of outcomes representing the solution. See Table 7.

Exercise 13 illustrates the notion of distinct composite outcomes. Even though the donut options are the same for each person, when we consider the composite outcomes, they are distinct. A three-stage process would be to pick a donut for Sam, then Jenny, then Walter, resulting in (Sam's donut, Jenny's donut, Walter's donut) triples. The solution 5*5*5 gives five distinct options for each of the three stages (i.e., the three people). So, a composite outcome might be (glazed, sprinkled, glazed). This is different from another of the composite outcomes (sprinkled, glazed, glazed) because Sam is getting the sprinkled donut instead of Jenny. Thus, the composite outcomes are all distinct from each other.

In Exercise 14, composite outcomes are not all distinct. A seemingly reasonable process would be first to select one of the two Asians to be on the committee, then select one of the two Europeans, and then select one of the ten remaining students (from one Asian, one European, and eight Americans). This process produces a solution of 2*2*10 = 2*2*(1+1+8), which results in overcounting the outcomes because a one-to-one correspondence does not exist between the counting process and the number of outcomes. That is, the composite outcomes are not all distinct. For example, this process would yield both (Asian 1, European 1, Asian 2) and (Asian 2, European 1, Asian 1). However, these composite outcomes are the same committee. When the ordered process produces the same solution in more than one way, we cannot use the MP to enumerate the solutions because the composite outcomes would not all be distinct. That is not to say the exercise is unsolvable. Breaking the exercise into three distinct cases, we can use the MP in each of those three cases to obtain a correct count. There are 1*2 committees with two Asian students and 1 European student, 1*2 committees with two European students and 1 Asian student, and 2*2*8 committees with one student of each nationality.

Table 8

Exercises 15-17

Exercise 15: At your local café are 5 types of donuts and 4 flavors of coffee. You decide to order a breakfast consisting of three donuts, and you can order as many of one type of donut as you like. How many different possible breakfasts could you order? (i) Explain why 5*4*3 is an incorrect answer. (ii) Explain why 5*5*5 is an incorrect answer. (iii) Find the correct answer. *Answer*: (iii) (5*4*3)/6 + 5*4 + 5.

Exercise 16: Suppose you have a class of 12 students. The class is going to select a committee consisting of some number of students to be representatives at a larger gathering. The committee could have 0, 1, 2, 3, ... up to 12 students on it. How many possible committees of students from the class are there? *Answer*: $2*2*2*...*2 = 2^{12}$.

Exercise 17: Suppose you are given the letters AEIOUJKLMN. (i) How many different arrangements of 4 of the ten letters are possible? (ii) How many different arrangements of 4 of the ten letters are there that do not begin with A and that end with a vowel? *Answer:* (i) 10*9*8*7. (ii) 8*8*7*4 + 9*8*7*1.

Collection 4

The last collection of exercises highlights the interrelatedness of the four critical features. Exercises 15-17 in Table 8 illustrate how those critical features work together to build a deeper understanding of the MP for counting. We comment on Exercise 15 but leave Exercises 16 and 17 for the reader to contemplate.

The three parts in Exercise 15 draw out three critical features of the MP: independence, order, and distinct composite outcomes. The solution in part (i), 5*4*3 presupposes that you cannot choose two of the same type of donut, and hence that the number of available options at later stages is dependent on the number of available options at earlier stages. The exercise, however, explicitly allows you to order as many of one type of donut as you like. The solutions in parts (i) and (ii) presuppose order and distinct composite outcomes. For example, the 5*5*5 solution in part (ii), which may tempt some students, would generate (glazed, glazed, sprinkled) and (glazed, sprinkled, glazed) as distinct composite outcomes because their order is different. However, they are not different breakfasts. Similarly, the 5*4*3 solution in part (i) would generate, for example, (glazed, sprinkled, jelly) and (glazed, jelly, sprinkled) as distinct composite outcomes when, in fact, they are the same breakfast. Thus, the critical features of order and distinct composite outcomes in the MP are sometimes linked. The correct solution in part (iii) requires dividing the exercise into three cases, based on independence-when we have a) three donuts of the same type, b) two donuts of the same type, and c) three different types of donuts. If we have three donuts of the same type, then once we select the first donut-in

> one of five ways-there is only one option for the remaining donuts. If we have two donuts of the same type, then once we select those two donuts-also in one of five ways-there are four options for the remaining donut. After multiplying 5*4*3 for the third option, division by 6 is needed to ensure that only one of the six possible orderings is being counted. Thus, the cases themselves are constructed to help navigate the issue of the number of outcomes being independent of previous choices so that the MP can be used within each of the three cases.

Discussion and Conclusion

This problem-based curriculum was designed as an instructional sequence to develop the MP. More broadly, this sequence of exercises is aligned with variation theory (e.g., Marton, Runesson, & Tsui, 2004). Variation theory describes learning as a process of considering variation against a backdrop of invariance. Specifically, variation theory has four stages: (1) contrast, (2) generalization, (3) separation, and (4) fusion (Marton, Runesson, & Tsui, 2004). The theory suggests that learning a new concept, such as the MP, should begin with contrast, move to generalization, on to separation, and lastly, fusion. The collection of problems presented in this paper aligns with these four stages (i.e., Collection 1 aligns with contrast, Collection 2 aligns with generalization across different contexts, Collection 3 aligns with separation when critical features vary, and Collection 4 fuses those critical features).

The exercises are engineered for a PBL setting. Instructors would assume the role of facilitator as students work independently and collaboratively to construct their own knowledge rather than listening to a traditional lecture (Torp & Sage, 2002). Furthermore, the exercises are meant to set up an explicit, full-class discussion through student presentations and discussion of solutions. This approach will collectively surface the conceptual conclusions about the MP–e.g., using students' solutions to the exercises to elicit the critical features, their subtleties, and their importance for recognizing when and how to apply the MP while solving counting exercises.

References

- Batanero, C., Navarro-Pelayo, V., & Godino, J. D. (1997). Effect of the implicit combinatorial model on combinatorial reasoning in secondary school pupils. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 32, 181-199. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1002954428327
- Cerezo, N. (2004). Problem-based learning in the middle school: A research case study of the perceptions of at-risk females. *Research in Middle Level Education*, 27(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/1 9404476.2004.11658164

- Hadar, N., & Hadass, R. (1981). The road to solving a combinatorial problem is strewn with pitfalls. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 12(4), 435-43.
- Lockwood, E., & Purdy, B. (2019). Two undergraduate students' reinvention of the multiplication principle. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 50(3), 225-267.
- Lockwood, E., Reed, Z., & Caughman, J. S. (2015). Categorizing statements of the multiplication principle. In T. G. Bartell et al. (Eds.), *Proceedings* of the 37th annual meeting of the North American Chapter of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education (pp. 80-87). Michigan State University.
- Lockwood, E., Reed, Z., & Caughman, J. S. (2017). An analysis of statements of the multiplication principle in combinatorics, discrete, and finite mathematics textbooks. *International Journal of Research in Undergraduate Mathematics Education*, 3, 381-416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40753-016-0045-y
- Mahmood, D., & Jacobo, H. (2019). Grading for growth: Using sliding scale rubrics to motivate struggling learners. *The Interdisciplinary Journal* of Problem-Based Learning, 13(2). https://doi. org/10.7771/1541-5015.1844
- Marton, F., Runesson, U., & Tsui, A. B. (2004). The space of learning. In F. Marton and A. B. Tsui (Eds.), *Classroom discourse and the space of learning* (pp. 17-82). Routledge.
- Marton, F., Tsui, A. B. M., Chik, P. P. M., Ko, P. Y., & Lo, M. L. (2004). *Classroom discourse and the space of learning*. Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Torp, L., & Sage, S. (2002). Problems as possibilities: *Problem-based learning for K–16 education* (2nd ed.). Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tucker, A. (2012). *Applied combinatorics* (6th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS



Lillie R. Albert, PhD, is a professor of mathematics education at Boston College Lynch School of Education and Human Development. Her research focuses on how Vygotsky's sociocultural historical theory influences mathematical learning across the lifespan, which

includes investigating the interaction between content, equity, and leadership practices of mathematics teachers. Collaborating with South Korean scholars, she has recently conducted research on the purpose of mathematics museums and the role that creativity plays in creating cognitively demanding tasks.



Olajumoke Olayemi Salami, a Postdoctoral researcher in the Department of Science and Technology Education, University of Johannesburg, South Africa. A lecturer at the Federal University Oye Ekiti, Nigeria. Her research interests include curriculum instruction in

mathematics education.



Erica Dorethea Spangenberg, a Professor of Mathematics Education in the Department of Science and Technology Education, University of Johannesburg, South Africa. Her research interest includes affective constructs in the teaching and learning mathematics via technology.



Justice Enu has a Ph. D in Mathematics Education. His research interest is in classroom pedagogies and visualization in mathematics.



Miriam Gates is a teacher educator who focuses on mathematics and science education across the grade levels. Dr. Gates is particularly interested in the intersection between math or science content, associated disciplinary practices, and considerations for equity. Her current

work is focused on classroom approximations of practice for future mathematics and science teachers and how grading practices in higher education can serve to support the professional learning for prospective teachers.



Zanele Ngcobo is an Associate Professor at the University of KwaZulu – Natal, school of Education. Her field of research is in Mathematics Education with a particular interest in Mathematics Teacher Development and Construction of Mathematical Knowledge.



Frankie A. Fran is a Ph.D. in Mathematics Education student in the Department of Mathematics, School of Science and Engineering, Ateneo de Manila University, Philippines. He is presently working on his dissertation on ethnomathematics and the inherent

mathematical knowledge systems of indigenous communities. He is also an Assistant Professor of Mathematics Education at the College of Education, Romblon State University, Philippines. His research interests include ethnomathematics, instructional design, and culturally relevant mathematics education.



Lioubov Pogorelova teaches courses in business, mathematics, and economics. Inspired by the historical narratives of early explorers, she considers herself a modern-day explorer, navigating uncharted territories through the innovative design of multidisciplinary

curricula. Her research interests span calculus and its reforms, ancient celestial navigation techniques, and strategic military tactics. In her pedagogical approach, she emphasizes holistic education that invites intellectual curiosity through studies in mathematics, social sciences, art, and international business.



Catherine P. Vistro-Yu is a Professor in the Department of Mathematics, School of Science and Engineering, Ateneo de Manila University, Philippines. She is the Program Coordinator for Mathematics Education. Catherine was the Philippine representative to the International

Commission on Mathematical Instruction from 2008 to 2020. She served in the ICMI Executive Committee as member-at-large for four years. She is currently a member of the IPC for ICMI Study 27 on Mathematics Education and the Socio-Ecological.



Nick Wasserman is Associate Professor of Mathematics Education in the Department of Mathematics, Science and Technology at Teachers College, Columbia University. He teaches mathematics content and mathematics education courses; his work is centered around the mathematical

preparation of secondary teachers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF REVIEWERS

The Editorial Board would like to acknowledge the following reviewers for their effort and support in reviewing articles for this issue of the *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College*. Without the help of these professionals, it would be impossible to maintain the high standards expected of our peer-reviewed journal.

Ishrat Ahmed Teachers College, Columbia University

Mine Cekin Teachers College, Columbia University

Yuxi Chen Teachers College, Columbia University

Art Walden A. Dejoras University of Science and Technology of Southern Philippines

> Omar Faruque Teachers College, Columbia University

> > Frankie Fran Romblon State University

Kihoon Lee Teachers College, Columbia University Michelle Longhitano Teachers College, Columbia University

Mara Markinson Queens College, City University of New York

Anthony Miele Teachers College, Columbia University

Marina Nouel Perez Teachers College, Columbia University

Sophia Reinhardt Teachers College, Columbia University

Molly Stern Teachers College, Columbia University

Kaori Yamamoto Teachers College, Columbia University

JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION AT TEACHERS COLLEGE

CALL FOR PAPERS

This call for papers is an invitation to mathematics education professionals, especially Teachers College students, alumni, and associates, to submit articles describing research, experiments, projects, innovations, or practices in mathematics education. The journal features full reports (approximately 3500 to 4500 words) and short reports (approximately 500 to 1500 words). Full reports describe findings from specific research, experiments, projects, innovations, or practices that contribute to advancing scholarly knowledge in mathematics education. Short reports ("Notes from the Field") provide examples, commentary, and/or dialogue about practices out in the field of mathematics education or mathematics teacher education; examples from classroom experience are encouraged. Although many past issues of JMETC focused around a theme, authors are encouraged to submit articles related to any current topic in mathematics education, from which pertinent themes for future issues may be developed. Articles must not have been submitted to or accepted for publication elsewhere. All manuscripts must include an abstract (approximately 150 words in length) and keywords. Manuscripts should be composed in Microsoft Word and follow APA format. Guest editors will send submitted articles to the review panel and facilitate the blind peer-review process. Articles for consideration should be submitted online at imetc.columbia.edu, and are reviewed on a rolling basis; however, to be considered for the Fall issue, articles should be received by August 31, 2024.

CALL FOR REVIEWERS

This call for reviewers is an invitation to mathematics educators with experience in reading or writing professional papers to join the review panel for future issues of *JMETC*. Reviewers are expected to complete assigned reviews within three weeks of receipt of the manuscript in order to expedite the publication process. Reviewers are responsible for editorial suggestions, fact and citations review, and identification of similar works that may be helpful to contributors whose submissions appear appropriate for publication. Neither authors' nor reviewers' names and affiliations will be shared with one another; however, reviewers' comments may be sent to contributors of manuscripts to guide revision of manuscripts (without identifying the reviewer). If you wish to be considered for review assignments, please register and indicate your willingness to serve as a reviewer on the journal's website: <u>imetc.columbia.edu</u>.

CALL FOR EDITOR NOMINATIONS

Do you know someone who would be a good candidate to serve as a guest editor of a future issue of *JMETC?* Students in the Program in Mathematics Education at Teachers College are invited to nominate (self-nominations accepted) current doctoral students for this position. Being asked to serve as a guest editor is a testament to the high quality and standards of the student's work and research. In particular, anyone nominated as a guest editor should be a current doctoral student whose scholarship is of the highset quality, whose writing skills are appropriate for editorial oversight, and whose dedication and responsibility will ensure timely publication of the journal issues. All nominations should be submitted to Ms. Juliana Fullon at jmf2213@tc.columbia.edu.

